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Dear Shareholders,

Shenghui Cleanness Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) was successfully listed 
(the “Listing”) on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong 
Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 5 December 2023, marking 
the official standing of our Company in the global capital market 
and a milestone of the Group’s development and continued success 
in the future. I would like to thank all stakeholders for their trust 
and support, including our customers, suppliers, business partners, 
employees and shareholders (the “Shareholders”).

Upon Listing, it is my privilege to represent the board (the “Board”) 
of directors (the “Directors”) of the Company and to communicate 
with all stakeholders on a regular basis about our Group’s business 
review and prospects. I am pleased to present this letter to 
Shareholders and I hope it will give all of you a better understanding 
of our performance during the year ended 31 December 2024 
(the “Reporting Period”) and the direction of our Group’s future 
development.

RESULTS AND BUSINESS REVIEW
Challenges and opportunities coexist in 2024 under the uncertain 
global economic outlook and the violet circumstance brought by 
the fluctuations of real estates industry in the People’s Republic of 
China (“PRC”). During the Reporting Period, we have recorded the 
total revenue of approximately RMB673.6 million, representing 
an increase of approximately 6.9% as compared to approximately 
RMB630.2 million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the 
“FY2023”). In this connection, the revenue was mainly generated 
from property cleaning which includes commercial building, 
residential building, shopping mall and etc. Gross profit for the 
Reporting Period amounted to approximately RMB100.7 million, as 
compared to approximately RMB93.4 million for FY2023.

The net profit after tax amounted to approximately RMB49.2 
million for the Reporting Period, as compared to adjusted net profit 
(excluding the non-recurring listing expenses of RMB12 million) 
approximately RMB39.9 million for FY2023. We maintained healthy 
cash flow with cash and cash equivalents at approximately RMB92.5 
million as at 31 December 2024.
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CHAIRMAN’S STATEMENT (continued)

OUTLOOK
Since our Group’s establishment in 2000 and foothold in 
Guangzhou, we have built a strong position in Guangdong province. 
In view of the PRC’s continuous growth in the economy and 
urbanisation, as well as the expected increase in the number of 
new properties, apart from growing the business through organic 
growth initiatives, we plan to leverage on our extensive experience 
in cleaning and maintenance services and expand our presence in 
both existing and new markets. We intend to replicate our model to 
other regions in the PRC with a strong demand for property cleaning 
services. Our Group also explore and pursue opportunities to expand 
the customer base and bolster the geographic presence in other 
provinces by potential acquisition and/or investment in cleaning and 
maintenance service provider(s) in the Greater Bay Area to enable 
us to expand the geographic reach and tender for cleaning services 
provision in major infrastructures to be completed in the near future.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT
Our development is inseparable from the trust and support of 
all Shareholders, investors, business partners, employees and 
the community. On behalf of the Board, I would like to express 
my sincere gratitude and respect for the contributions of our 
management team and all staff members of the Group. In the future, 
our Group will continue to strive for development and creating 
maximum value in return for our clients and Shareholders’ support.

Mr. Li Chenghua
Chairman, Chief Executive Officer and Executive Director

28 March 2025



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS 管理層論述與分析

二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 7

21

14

–
– A

– 
AAAAA

–

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Company was successfully listed on the Main Board of The 
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 5 
December 2023 (the “Listing”).

The Group is a reputable cleaning and maintenance services 
provider in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). With 
industry experience of over 21 years, we have steadily developed our 
business to offer a wide range of services to customers and extend 
the coverage of our operations to 14 provincial-level regions in the 
PRC.

Our service capabilities include the provision of basic cleaning and 
maintenance service, garbage collection and transportation service, 
waste collection and transportation service, water tank cleaning 
service and ancillary services. We also offer specialised cleaning 
services such as stone cleaning and restoration and high-altitude 
cleaning with mobile elevated platforms.

Our Group is committed to providing high quality service. We have 
a number of qualifications and adopt relevant quality control 
measures, which enable us to respond to the service requests and 
feedback of our customers in an efficient manner. Currently we hold, 
among others, the Guangzhou Sanitation Industry Operating Service 
Company Industry Grade Certificate – A Grade* (

– ), the Operational Cleaning, Collection and 
Transportation Services of Municipal Solid Waste Licence* (

), the Stone & Floor 
Application Conservation Specialty Qualification Certificate – 
AAAAA Grade* ( –AAAAA ), 
Sewage, Septic Tank, Pipeline Unclogging Treatment Cleaning 
Service Enterprise Qualification Certificate – National Level 1* (

– ) and 
Secondary Water Supply Cleaning Service Enterprise Qualification 
Certificate* ( ).

* The English translation is for identification purpose only * 
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)

PROSPECTS
The Board considers that the Listing has impacted the perception 
of customers towards our Group and believes that the public listing 
status is a form of complementary advertising which will further 
enhance the corporate profile, assist in reinforcing the brand 
awareness and market reputation, promote the business opportunities 
and cooperation with the potential business partners and offer the 
Company a broader shareholder base which will provide liquidity in 
the trading of the shares of the Company (the “Shares”). In addition, 
in the event of future business expansion and long-term development 
needs and goals, the Listing will enable us to gain access to the 
capital market for future fund raising in the form of equity and/
or debt, which would be in the interests of the Company and its 
shareholders.

Since our Group’s establishment in 2000 and foothold in Guangzhou, 
we have built a strong position in Guangdong province. In view 
of the PRC’s continuous growth in the economy and urbanisation, 
as well as the expected increase in the number of new properties, 
apart from growing the business through organic growth initiatives, 
we plan to leverage on our extensive experience in cleaning and 
maintenance services and expand our presence in both existing and 
new markets. We intend to replicate our model to other regions in 
the PRC with a strong demand for property cleaning services. Our 
Group also explore and pursue opportunities to expand business 
in recycling of waste materials for manufacturing of packaging 
materials, and design, manufacture and sale of environmentally 
friendly biodegradable materials. And expand the customer base 
and bolster the geographic presence in other provinces by potential 
acquisition and/or investment in cleaning and maintenance service 
provider(s) in the Greater Bay Area to enable us to expand the 
geographic reach and tender for cleaning services provision in major 
infrastructures to be completed in the near future.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue
Our revenue was derived from property cleaning which includes 
commercial building, residential building, shopping mall and etc and 
public space cleaning which primarily consists of road sweeping and 
cityscape cleaning.

Year ended 31 December

2024 2023

RMB million
Approximate %
of total revenue RMB million

Approximate %
of total revenue

(%) (%)      

Property cleaning 644.6 95.7 606.7 96.3
Public space cleaning 29.0 4.3 23.5 3.7      

Total 673.6 100 630.2 100.0      

We recorded an increase in revenue from approximately RMB630.2 
million for the year ended 31 December 2023 (the “FY2023”) to 
approximately RMB673.6 million for the year ended 31 December 
2024 (the “Reporting Period”), representing an increase of 
approximately 6.9%. The increase in revenue was mainly due to 
the increase in number of projects during the Reporting Period in 
property cleaning service.

Cost of services
Our cost of services increased from approximately RMB536.7 million 
for FY2023 to approximately RMB572.9 million for the Reporting 
Period, representing an increase of approximately 6.7%. The increase 
in cost of services was in line with the revenue growth for the same 
period.

Gross profit and gross profit margin
We generated gross profit of approximately RMB100.7 million for 
the Reporting Period as compared to approximately RMB93.4 million 
for FY2023. During the Reporting Period, our Group’s gross profit 
margins remained stable at approximately 14.9% as compared to 
approximately 14.8% for FY2023.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Other income, gains and losses
Other income, gains and losses decreased from approximately 
RMB6.4 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB2.4 million for the 
Reporting Period, representing a decrease of approximately 62.5%. 
The decrease in other income, gains and losses was primarily due to 
decrease in value-added tax refund and net exchange loss recorded 
during the Reporting Period.

Selling and marketing expenses
We recorded a decrease in the selling and marketing expenses 
from approximately RMB5.1 million for FY2023 to approximately 
RMB4.0 million for the Reporting Period, representing a decrease 
of approximately 21.6%. Such decrease was due to the decrease in 
marketing and entertainment expenses as well as tendering expenses.

Administrative and other expenses
Our administrative and other expenses increased from approximately 
RMB61.1 million for FY2023 to approximately RMB68.1 million for 
the Reporting Period, representing an increase of 11.5% which was 
primarily due to increase in staff costs during the Reporting Period.

Finance income (expenses), net
Our net finance income amounted to approximately RMB1.5 million 
for the Reporting Period as compared to a net finance expenses of 
approximately RMB0.5 million for FY2023.

Income tax expenses
Our income tax expenses increased from approximately RMB4.5 
million for FY2023 to approximately RMB10.0 million for the 
Reporting Period due to deferred tax effect arise from the fair value 
gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Net profit and net profit margin
As a result of the foregoing, our Group recorded an increase in 
the net profit from approximately RMB27.9 million for FY2023 to 
approximately RMB49.2 million during the Reporting Period, whilst 
our net profit margin increase from 4.4% for FY2023 to 7.3% for the 
Reporting Period. The increase in net profit is due to the recognition 
of fair value gain on financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss and offset by the increase in impairment losses on financial 
assets under expected credit loss model.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Capital structure
The change of capital structure of the Group during the year ended 
31 December 2024 are summarized as below:

Issue of Placing Shares
On 13 December 2024, an aggregate of 130,980,000 new shares of 
the Company (the “Shares”) were successfully placed to not less than 
six placees at price of HK$0.305 each (the “Placing”) under a general 
mandate granted by the Shareholders at its annual general meeting 
held on 29 June 2024. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, 
information and belief, having made all reasonable enquiries, each 
of the placees and their respective ultimate beneficial owners (if 
applicable) are independent third-parties. The net proceeds from the 
Placing (after deducting related placing commissions and related 
expenses) were approximately HK$39.35 million and the Company 
intended to utilize for (1) acquisition of target(s) in cleaning and 
maintenance services providers in the PRC (including further 
acquisition of shares of BTI); (2) making investment or acquisition of 
potential target(s) which is/are in the upstream or downstream along 
the value chain of the business of the Group, which could bring 
integration and/or synergy effects to the Group, which in aggregate 
accounted for approximately 90% of the net proceeds from the issue 
of the Placing Shares; and/or (3) general working capital of the Group 
which accounted for the remaining balance of approximately 10% 
of the net proceeds from issue of the Placing which has been fully 
utilised as intended as at the date of this annual report. Details of the 
Placing were disclosed in the Company’s announcements dated 22 
November 2024 and 13 December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Liquidity and financial resources
For the Reporting Period, our Group mainly financed the operations 
with our own working capital and bank borrowings. As at 31 
December 2024, our Group’s net asset amounted to approximately 
RMB384.9 million (31 December 2023: RMB298.8 million). The 
increase was mainly due to recognition of fair value gain on financial 
assets at fair value through profit or loss and receipt from the equity 
interest in an entity whose shares are vested on National Equities 
Exchange and Quotations (“NEEQ”).

We had cash, bank balances and restricted bank deposits amounted 
to approximately RMB92.5 million as at 31 December 2024 (31 
December 2023: RMB150.4 million). The total borrowings consisting 
of lease liabilities and bank borrowings amounted to approximately 
RMB59.7 million (31 December 2023: RMB6.9 million).

As at 31 December

2024 2023

    

Current ratio (times) 1  1 2.3 3.0
Gearing ratio (%) 2 (%) 2 15.5 2.3
Net debt to equity ratio (%) 3 (%) 3 Net cash Net cash     

Notes:

1. Current ratio is calculated based on the total current assets divided by 
the total current liabilities as at the end of the respective financial year.

2. Gearing ratio is calculated based on the total borrowings and lease 
liabilities divided by total equity as at the end of the respective financial 
year and multiplied by 100.0%.

3. Net debt to equity ratio is calculated based on the net debts (total debts 
net of cash and cash equivalents) divided by total equity as at the end of 
the respective year and multiplied by 100.0%.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)

18.7
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FINANCIAL REVIEW (continued)
Capital expenditure and commitments
Our capital expenditure for the Reporting Period amounted to 
approximately RMB18.7 million (FY2023: RMB11.7 million), 
comprising mainly expenditures for the purchase of property, plant 
and equipment.

No capital commitments to be incurred as at 31 December 2024 (31 
December 2023: RMB9.1 million).

Pledge of assets
As at 31 December 2024, we did not pledge any assets (31 
December 2023: nil) as securities for any facilities granted to our 
Group.

Contingent liabilities
Our Group did not have material contingent liabilities as at 31 
December 2024 and 2023.

Treasury policies
We adopt prudent treasury policies. The Group’s management 
closely monitors our liquidity position to ensure that the liquidity 
structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and commitments can meet 
its funding requirements.

Foreign exchange exposure
Substantially all of our Group’s financial assets and liabilities are 
primarily denominated RMB. As at 31 December 2024, our foreign 
exchange risk on financial assets and liabilities denominated in 
foreign currencies was insignificant to the Group. The Group 
currently does not undertake any foreign currency hedging and does 
not use any financial instrument for hedging purposes. However, our 
management will closely monitor the foreign exchange exposure of 
the Group and will consider hedging the foreign exchange exposure 
if it becomes significant to our Group.

Furthermore, the conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is 
subject to rules and regulations of exchange control enforced by the 
government.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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0.32

73.5

87.4 13.9

OTHER INFORMATION
Use of proceeds from the global offering
On 27 November 2023, the Company offered 414,375,000 Shares 
for subscription in the global offering. The offer price per Share was 
determined at HK$0.32 and the Shares were successfully listed on 
the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 5 December 2023. The net 
proceeds (after deduction of underwriting fees and commissions and 
other listing expenses) from the Listing were approximately HK$73.5 
million. The estimated net proceeds under the section headed “Future 
plans and use of proceeds” to the prospectus of the Company dated 
27 November 2023 (the “Prospectus”) was HK$87.4 million. The 
difference of approximately HK$13.9 million has been adjusted 
in the same proportion to the use of proceeds as disclosed in the 
Prospectus.

The below table sets out the planned application of the net proceeds:

Intended application of
the net proceeds

Approximate
percentage
of total net

proceeds

Adjusted
planned

allocation

Utilised
amount

during the
Reporting

Period

Unutilised
amount as at

31 December
2024

Expected
timetable for full
utilisation (Note)

HK$ million HK$ million HK$ million

       

Establishment of new branch offices 48.9% 36.0 – 36.0 December 2026

Acquisition or investment in 
cleaning and maintenance service 
provider(s)

21.4% 15.7 15.7 – December 2026

Enhancing service capabilities in the 
public space cleaning sector

19.4% 14.3 5.7 8.6 December 2026

Adopting technological advances and 
upgrading information technology 
system

7.6% 5.6 1.1 4.5 December 2026

Expanding marketing department 2.5% 1.8 0.7 1.1 December 2026

General working capital 0.2% 0.1 0.1 –       

Total 100.0% 73.5 23.3 50.2       
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)

  

 

5%

OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
Use of proceeds from the global offering (continued)
Note:  The expected timeline for the usage of the remaining proceeds 

is made based on the best estimate of our Group’s future market 
conditions, which is subject to the current and future development of 
the market conditions.

As at 31 December 2024, the unutilised net proceeds have been 
placed in interest-bearing accounts with licensed banks in Hong 
Kong.

Significant investments held and material acquisitions and 
disposals
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss represents the 
Group’s investments in Best Technology (Shenzhen) Inc. (“BTI”), 
a company that is listed on the National Equities Exchange and 
Quotations (NEEQ). BTI is principally engaged in recycling of waste 
materials for manufacturing of packaging materials, and design, 
manufacture and sale of environmentally friendly biodegradable 
materials. As at 31 December 2024, the Group had significant 
investments representing 5% or more of the Group’s total assets in 
BTI.

Summary of investee company of the significant investments held by 
the Group:

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Name of investee
company

Number of
 shares head 

at 31 December 
2024

% of 
shares head 

at 31 December 
2024

Investment
 cost

Dividend 
income

Fair 
value gain

Carrying 
value

% of 
carrying value 
to the Group’s 

total assets

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

BTI 15,563,138 19.5% 63,902 – 37,258 101,160 17.7%         
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)
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OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
Significant investments held and material acquisitions and 
disposals (continued)
Our investment in BTI generated a fair value gain of RMB37,258,000 
with carrying value as at 31 December 2024 of RMB101,160,000 
represented approximately 17.7% of the total assets of the Group. No 
dividend is received from the investment in BTI during the Reporting 
Period.

This investment aligns strategically with the Group’s objectives to 
leverage BTI’s recycling technology and enhance its operational 
capabilities in waste management and environmentally friendly 
initiatives.

This acquisition was executed with independent third-party vendors 
and is aimed at consolidating the Group’s position in the recycling 
sector. The Board believes that this acquisition is integral to the 
Company’s growth strategy, as it enhances its capacity to utilize 
advanced recycling technologies and expand its business operations 
in the cleaning and maintenance services industry.

Save as disclosed above, the Group did not have other significant 
investments, material acquisitions and/or disposals of subsidiaries, 
associates or joint ventures.

Future plans for material investments or capital assets
Save as disclosed in the Prospectus and this report, there was no 
specific plan for material investments or capital assets as at 31 
December 2024.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND 
ANALYSIS (continued)

379.9
351.3
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OTHER INFORMATION (continued)
Human resources
The total employee benefit expenses was RMB379.9 million during 
the Reporting Period (FY2023: RMB351.3 million). The number of 
staff was 8,160 as at 31 December 2024 (31 December 2023: 7,086). 
Each employee’s remuneration was determined in accordance with 
the individual’s responsibility, competence and skills, experience 
and performance, as well as market pay levels. All employees of the 
Group participate in employee social insurance plans established in 
the PRC, which cover pension, medical and other welfare benefits. 
Training programmes, including environmental protection, quality 
and occupational safety and health training, emergency response and 
rescue training, specialised cleaning skills training and management 
skills training, are regularly provided or arranged to our employees. 
We has also adopted a share option scheme to provide incentives or 
rewards to the staff.

Events after reporting period
Save as disclosed in this announcement, there were no other 
significant events that may affect our Group since the end of the 
Reporting Period.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Mr. Li Chenghua, aged 52, is the chairman of the board (the 
“Chairman”), chief executive officer and an executive director of the 
Company. He joined the Group in August 2000 and is one of the 
founders of the Group. He was appointed as a Director on 4 January 
2021 and re-designated as the Chairman, chief executive officer and 
an executive director of the Company on 16 March 2021. Mr. Li is 
responsible for overall strategic planning, management, operation 
and business development of the Group. He is currently also a 
director of the subsidiaries of the Company, Shenghui Cleanness 
(BVI) Limited (“Shenghui Cleanness (BVI)”), Shenghui Cleanness (HK) 
Limited (“Shenghui Cleanness (HK)”), Guangzhou Xinhui Technology 
Property Co., Ltd.* ( ) and Guangzhou 
Shenghui Cleanness Service Co., Ltd.* (

) (“Guangzhou Shenghui”).

Mr. Li is an entrepreneur with over 26 years of management and 
operational experience in the cleaning service industry and has led 
the growth of the Group over the years.

Mr. Li completed an on-job CEO Training Course (Executive Master 
of Business Administration)* (EMBA ) at Sun Yat-
sen University in the PRC in April 2014. Mr. Li is also an active 
member of the sanitation industry in Guangzhou as he served as the 
president of the Industry Association of Sanitation of Panyu District 
of Guangzhou City* ( ) from October 
2016 to October 2020 and was elected as the vice president of the 
Guangzhou Industry Association of Sanitation (

) for three consecutive terms from December 2011 to December 
2023 and was elected as the president of the Guangzhou Industry 
Association of Sanitation with effect from 27 August 2024.

* for identification purposes only

52

(BVI)

26

CEO EMBA

* 
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BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

54

(BVI)

24

CEO EMBA
EMBA

* 

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Mr. Chen Liming, aged 54, is the executive Director. He joined the 
Group in August 2000 and is one of the founders of the Group. He 
was appointed as a Director on 16 March 2021 and re-designated 
as an executive Director on the same day. Mr. Chen is responsible 
for providing industrial advice to the Group, as well as strategic 
management of and formulating business strategies for the Group. 
He is also a director of the subsidiaries of the Company, Shenghui 
Cleanness (BVI) and Shenghui Cleanness (HK).

Mr. Chen is an entrepreneur with over 24 years of management and 
operational experience in the cleaning service industry and has led 
the growth of the Group over the years. Prior to the establishment 
of the Group, Mr. Chen had experience in the cleaning industry. 
Since April 1999, he has been operating Guangzhou Panyu Nancun 
Qikai Construction Engineering Services Department* (

) (formerly known as Guangzhou Panyu 
Nancun Zhujiang Sanitation Cleaning Services Department* (

) (“Zhujiang Sanitation”) as a sole 
proprietor, which principally provided waste transfer and disposal 
services since its establishment and during most of the period of 
financial years ended 31 December 2020 to 2022 and six months 
ended 30 June 2023. For the purpose of focusing the operations 
of cleaning related businesses by the Group, Mr. Chen ceased the 
operation of the domestic waste transfer and disposal business of 
Zhujiang Sanitation on 11 December 2020.

In August 2000, Mr. Chen co-founded Guangzhou Shenghui with 
Mr. Li and has been responsible for overseeing the daily operations 
of Guangzhou Shenghui. He also provided strategic advice to the 
Group since establishment. Mr. Chen also gained managerial and 
operational experience when he served as an executive director and 
manager of Guangzhou Shuoguo Property Management Co., Ltd.* 
( ), a property management company, 
since April 2007; an executive director of Wuhan Chuangsheng 
Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.* (

), an environmental technology company, from June 2014 to April 
2018; as well as the executive director and manager of Guangzhou 
Yuneng Environmental Technology Co., Ltd.* (

), an environmental technology company, from May 2016 
to December 2020.

Mr. Chen also completed three on-job courses conducted by Sun 
Yat-sen University ( ) in the PRC, namely the Executive 
Master of Business Administration Course for Corporate CEOs (
CEO EMBA ) in June 2011; the CEO Training Course 
(Executive Master of Business Administration) (EMBA

) in May 2013; and the Advanced Training Course on Corporate 
Entrepreneurship and Innovation* ( ) in 
December 2013.

* for identification purpose only



SHENGHUI CLEANNESS GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 202420

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS 
AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (continued)

46

25

1269

36

12

334

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
Dr. Wang Hui aged 46, was appointed as an independent non-
executive Director on 26 July 2024 and is responsible for providing 
independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, performance, 
accountability, resources, key appointments and standards of 
conduct. She is the chairperson of the audit committee and the 
investment committee of the Company; and a member of the 
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the 
Company.

Dr. Wang has over 25 years experience in corporate finance 
and accounting, project investment and decision-making, risk 
management and control. Dr. Wang was appointed as the chief 
financial officer of China First Capital Group Limited (stock code: 
1269) on 31 December 2015. Dr. Wang obtained a bachelor’s and a 
master’s degrees in economics from Shanghai University of Finance 
and Economics in 2000 and 2003, respectively. Then, he obtained a 
doctoral degree in management from Shanghai University of Finance 
and Economics in 2007. Dr. Wang is a non-practising member of 
China Association of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Cheung Bo Man, aged 36, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 14 November 2023 and is responsible 
for providing independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, 
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and 
standards of conduct. She is the chairperson of the remuneration 
committee of the Company and a member of the audit committee, 
the nomination committee and the investment committee of the 
Company.

Ms. Cheung is a practising solicitor in Hong Kong and a partner of 
Messrs. Ronald Tong & Co.  She has over 12 years of experience in 
the legal industry and experience in corporate transactions involving 
listed companies.  Since 25 April 2017, she has been the company 
secretary of China Display Optoelectronics Technology Holdings 
Limited (stock code: 334), a company listed on the Main Board of 
the Stock Exchange.

Ms. Cheung obtained a Bachelor of Business Administration (Law) 
degree and a Bachelor of Laws degree from the University of 
Hong Kong in December 2009 and November 2011 respectively, 
and further obtained a Postgraduate Certificate in Laws from the 
University of Hong Kong in June 2012.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (continued)
Ms. Yau Yin Hung, aged 38, was appointed as an independent 
non-executive Director on 14 November 2023 and is responsible 
for providing independent judgement on issues of strategy, policy, 
performance, accountability, resources, key appointments and 
standards of conduct. She is the chairperson of the nomination 
committee of the Company and a member of the audit committee, 
the remuneration committee and the investment committee of the 
Company.

Ms. Yau has approximately 13 years of experience in the banking 
industry with a focus on providing securities and asset management 
services. She started her career as an account executive trainee at 
HSBC Broking Securities (Asia) Limited in December 2009, where 
she was responsible for handling client account matters, with her 
last position as an account executive when she left the firm in 
February 2011. From March 2011 to April 2011, Ms. Yau worked 
as a securities officer of Citibank (Hong Kong) Limited, where 
she provided securities dealing services to bank retail customers. 
From April 2011 to February 2016, Ms. Yau served in Nomura 
International (Hong Kong) Limited, an investment firm, where her 
last position was wealth manager. Ms. Yau then worked for Credit 
Suisse AG Hong Kong Branch from March 2016 to December 2018 
and provided services on Type 1 (dealing in securities) and Type 
4 (advising on securities) regulated activities as defined under the 
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO”). From September 2019 
to September 2020, she was employed by Parksong Mining and 
Resource Recycling Limited, a subsidiary of Greentech Technology 
International Limited (a company listed on the Main Board (stock 
code: 195) (“Greentech”), and was a responsible officer of Ocean 
Cedar Asset Management Company Limited, also a subsidiary of 
Greentech, for Type 4 (advising on securities) and Type 9 (asset 
management) regulated activities defined under the SFO from May 
2020 to September 2020. Since then, Ms. Yau has been devoting 
her time to managing accounts for her family business. Ms. Yau was 
appointed as director of Green Education Foundation Limited since 
October 2021.

Ms. Yau obtained a Bachelor of Science with a major in 
Environmental Economics and Policy from the University of 
California, Berkeley in December 2008. She further obtained a 
Master of Finance from the University of Hong Kong in November 
2012.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT
Mr. Xing Guojun, aged 45, is the managing director of the Group. 
He joined the Group as a head of administration in November 
2002 where he was responsible for managing the daily operation 
of the domestic cleaning services department. In January 2006, Mr. 
Xing was promoted as an administrative assistant manager and was 
thereafter promoted to general manager in January 2010. He became 
a managing director of Guangzhou Shenghui in March 2017. He has 
approximately 20 years of managerial experience in the cleaning 
service industry and is responsible for the overall management and 
operation of the Group.

Mr. Xing started off his career as a trainee civilian policeman of 
Hubei Zaoyang Public Security Bureau Criminal Police Brigade* (

) from June 2001 to October 
2002, prior to joining the Group.

Mr. Xing keeps abreast with industrial development and completed 
vocational training courses between December 2005 to December 
2019 conducted by the Guangzhou Industry Association of 
Sanitation* ( ), the Senior Civil Servant Training 
Centre of the PRC* ( ) and the Talent 
Exchange Centre of Ministry of Industry and Information Technology 
of the PRC* ( ). He was also 
accredited as a third level/senior skill level cleaner* ( /

) in November 2014 by the Ministry of Human Resources and 
Social Security of the PRC* ( ).

Mr. Xing completed his studies in criminal investigation at Hubei 
Public Security College* ( ) (now known as 
Hubei University of Police* ( )) in June 2001.
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Mr. Cao Zuoping, aged 48, is the merchandising manager of the 
Group. He joined the Group in November 2010 as project manager 
and was promoted to his current position in May 2011. Mr. Cao is 
primarily responsible for the supervision and management of the 
procurement of cleaning products and equipment of the Group.

Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Cao started his career as a fire and 
security foreman at Guangdong Weibo Communication Bureau* (

), from January 1997 to December 2001, where he 
was responsible for handling fire safety matters. He then gained over 
seven years of managerial experience as a property manager and 
head of security at Guangdong Gongcheng Property Management 
Co., Ltd.* ( ) from January 2002 to 
October 2009, during which he was mainly responsible for property 
management and security of the management office.

Mr. Cao completed the property management programme at China 
Central Radio and TV University* ( ) (now known 
as the Open University of China* ( )) in the PRC in 
January 2011. He also obtained a completion certificate ( ) 
from the Guangzhou Property Management Association* (

) in November 2003.

Ms. Chen Chiqiong, aged 40, is the administrative manager of 
the Group. She has approximately 13 years of experience in 
administrative management. Ms. Chen first joined the Group 
in December 2009 as an administrative assistant. She was then 
promoted to administrative supervisor in May 2011 where she 
was responsible for settling payment and arranging employment 
contracts. In March 2018, Ms. Chen was promoted to her current 
position and she is primarily responsible for the overall supervision 
of the operations as well as managing internal relationships of the 
Group.

Ms. Chen completed her computer studies at Hubei Huangshi 
Institute of Education* ( ) (now known as 
Huangshi Polytechnic College* ( )) in July 2004. 
She was also accredited a second level labour relations coordinator* 
( ) by the Ministry of Human Resources and 
Social Security of the PRC* ( ) in January 
2019.
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Mr. Li Langquan, aged 40, is the marketing director of the Group. 
He has over 7 years of tendering and marketing experience and is 
primarily responsible for overseeing and supervising tendering and 
marketing activities as well as business development of the Group.

Mr. Li first joined the Group as a marketing manager in May 2013 
but left the Group in May 2014. He re-joined the Group in May 
2016 as a marketing manager and was promoted to vice marketing 
director in August 2018. Mr. Li was further promoted to his current 
position in March 2021.

Mr. Li completed his studies in plant protection* ( ) at the 
South China University of Tropical Agriculture* ( ) 
in the PRC in June 2007. He was accredited as a fifth level/primary 
skill level pest control officer* ( / ) by 
the Ministry of Human Resources and Social Security in Guangzhou 
of the PRC* ( ) in May 2014. Mr. Li has 
also obtained a Stone Application Conservation and Floor Project 
Manager Certificate of Post Training* (

) accredited by the Guangdong Stone Materials 
Association Stone Application Specialised Committee* (

) in June 2019. He has further 
obtained a Certificate of Training Project for Urgent and Shortage 
Talents in the Industry and Information Technology Field* (

) as an Urban Sanitation 
Engineer* ( ) accredited by the Ministry of Industry 
and Information Technology Talent Exchange Center* (

) of the PRC in December 2019.
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Corporate governance provides the framework within which the 
Board forms their decisions and build their businesses. The Company 
is committed to achieving good corporate governance, focusing 
on creating long-term sustainable growth for the Shareholders 
and delivering long-term values to all stakeholders. An effective 
corporate governance structure allows the Company to have a better 
understanding of, evaluate and manage, risks and opportunities. 
The Company adopted all the code provisions in the Corporate 
Governance Code (the “CG Code”) in Appendix C1 of the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock 
Exchange as its own code on corporate governance practices.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the Company 
complied with the code provisions set out in part 2 of the CG Code 
with the exception of the code provision C.2.1. Details of such 
deviation is explained below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
The Company is governed by the Board which is responsible for 
overall strategic planning, management, operation and business 
development of the Group; providing industrial advice to the 
Group as well as strategic management of and formulating business 
strategies for the Group; providing independent judgement on 
issues of strategy, policy, performance, accountability, resources, 
key appointments and standards of conduct; and devising the risk 
management strategies and operational plans as well as appointing 
the senior management of the Group. The Board sets the overall 
strategy and directions for the Group with a view to developing its 
business and enhancing the Shareholder value.

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to formulate 
overall strategy, monitor business development as well as the 
financial performance of the Group. The Board has delegated 
certain duties and authorities to the management of the Company 
for overall management and operation of the Group; supervision 
and management of the procurement of cleaning products and 
equipment of the Group; overall supervision of the operations as 
well as managing internal and external relationships of the Group; 
and overseeing and supervising tendering and marketing activities as 
well as business development of the Group.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
The Board established mechanism to ensure independent views and 
input are available to the Board. The independent non-executive 
Directors (the “INEDs”) support the effective discharge of the duties 
and responsibilities of the Board and bring independent views and 
input to the Board. In addition, the Board, Board committees or 
individual Directors may seek independent professional advice, 
views and input, which shall include but not limited to legal advice, 
advice of accountants and advice of other professional financial 
advisors, as considered necessary to fulfil their responsibilities and 
in exercising independent judgment when making decisions in 
furtherance of their Directors’ duties at the Company’s expense.

The Board is responsible for determining the appropriate corporate 
governance practices applicable to the Company’s circumstances 
and ensuring systems, processes and procedures in place to achieve 
the Company’s corporate governance objectives; reviewing and 
monitoring the training and continuous professional development of 
the Directors and senior management and the Company’s policies, 
practices and guidelines on compliance with legal and regulatory 
requirements; and etc. The Board may discharge its corporate 
governance duties by establishment of board committees of the 
Company and delegation of certain management and administration 
functions to the management. Throughout the year and up to the 
date of this report, the Board reviewed the compliance with the CG 
Code, the disclosure in the corporate governance report and the 
effectiveness of the risk management and internal controls systems of 
the Group.

The Board currently comprises two executive Directors, namely Mr. 
Li Chenghua (the Chairman and the chief executive officer of the 
Company) and Mr. Chen Liming, and three INEDs, namely Dr. Wang 
Hui, Ms. Cheung Bo Man and Ms. Yau Yin Hung.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as 
the operation and financial performance of the Group, and to review 
and approve the Group’s annual and interim results and other ad 
hoc matters which need to be dealt with. A board meeting of the 
Company was held on 28 March 2025 to consider and approve the 
annual results of the Company for the Reporting Period and convene 
the annual general meeting of the Company.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 27

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
During the year, four Board meetings were held and the individual 
attendance records of each Director at the meetings of the Board, 
Audit and Risk Management Committee, Remuneration Committee 
and general meeting during the year ended 31 December 2024 are 
set out below:

Meeting attended/held

Board
Audit 

committee
Remuneration 

committee
Nomination 

committee
Investment 
committee AGM EGM

Name of Directors         

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Chenghua 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Mr. Chen Liming 6/6 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1 1/1

Independent Non-
Executive Directors

Ms. Yau Yin Hung 6/6 5/5 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Ms. Cheung Bo Man 6/6 5/5 2/2 2/2 1/1 1/1 1/1
Ms. Chong Sze Pui 

Joanne, MH  
(resigned with effect 
from 1 June 2024)

MH

 

1/6 1/5 1/2 1/2 0/1 0/1 0/1

Dr. Wang Hui 
(appointed with 
effect from  
26 July 2024)

 
 

 

5/6 3/5 0/2 0/2 1/1 1/1 1/1

         

The Board has reserved for its decision or consideration matters 
covering mainly the Group’s overall strategy, annual operating 
budget, annual and interim results, approval of Directors’ 
appointment or reappointment (based on the recommendations made 
by the Nomination Committee), material contracts and transactions, 
corporate governance as well as other significant policy and financial 
matters. The Board has delegated the day-to-day management and 
operation responsibility to the executive management. The respective 
functions of the Board and management of the Company have been 
formalised and set out in writing and will be reviewed and updated 
by the Board from time to time to ensure that they are consistent with 
the existing rules and regulations.
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Regular Board meetings each year are scheduled in advance to 
facilitate maximum attendance of Directors. At least 14 days’ notice 
of a Board meeting is normally given to all Directors who are given 
an opportunity to include matters for discussion in the agenda. The 
company secretary of the Company (“Company Secretary”) assist 
the Chairman of the Board in preparing the agenda for meetings 
and ensures that all applicable rules and regulations are complied 
with. The agenda and the accompanying Board papers are normally 
sent to all Directors at least 3 days before the intended date of a 
regular Board meeting (and so far as practicable for such other Board 
meetings). Draft minutes of each Board meeting are circulated to 
all Directors for their comment before being tabled at the following 
Board meeting for approval. All minutes are kept by the Company 
Secretary and are open for inspection at any reasonable time on 
reasonable notice by any Director.

According to the current Board practice, if a substantial shareholder 
or a Director has a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered 
by the Board which the Board has determined to be material, the 
matter will be dealt with by the Board at a duly convened Board 
meeting and INEDs who, and whose close associates, have no 
material interest in the transaction should be present at that Board 
meeting. The constitution of the Company also stipulates that save 
for the exceptions as provided therein, a Director shall abstain from 
voting on any Board resolution and not be counted in the quorum at 
meetings for approving any contract or arrangement in which such 
Director or any of his/her close associates has a material interest.

14

3
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
Every Director is entitled to have access to Board papers and related 
materials and has access to the advice and services of the Company 
Secretary. The Board and each Director also have separate and 
independent access to the Company’s management. Directors will 
be continuously updated on the major developments of the Listing 
Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure 
compliance and upkeep of good corporate governance practices. In 
addition, as part of the mechanism to encourage independent views 
and input from Directors, a written procedure has been established 
and reviewed annually to enable the Directors, in discharge of 
their duties, to seek external independent professional advice in 
appropriate circumstances at a reasonable cost to be borne by the 
Company

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development
For continuous professional development, in addition to Directors’ 
attendance at meetings and review of papers and circulars sent 
by the management of the Company, during the year ended 31 
December 2024, Directors participated in the activities including the 
following:

Participation in Continuous 
Professional Development Activities

Reading 
regulatory updates

Attending trainings/
briefings/seminars/

conferences 
relevant to the 

Directors’ duties

Name of Directors    

Executive Directors
Mr. Li Chenghua Y Y
Mr. Chen Liming Y Y

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Ms. Yau Yin Hung Y Y
Ms. Cheung Bo Man Y Y
Ms. Chong Sze Pui Joanne, MH (resigned 

with effect from  
1 June 2024)

MH 
 

Y Y

Dr. Wang Hui (appointed with effect 
from 26 July 2024)

 Y Y
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)
In compliance with the Listing Rules, the Company appointed 
INEDs with at least one of them having appropriate professional 
qualifications or accounting or related financial management 
expertise. The INEDs, together with the executive Directors, ensure 
that the Board prepares its financial and other mandatory reports in 
strict compliance with the relevant standards. The Company received 
annual confirmation of independence under Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules from each of the INEDs and believes that their independence 
is in compliance with the Listing Rules.

The non-executive Directors are subject to the requirement that one-
third of all the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each 
annual general meeting of the Company pursuant to the amended 
and restated articles of association of the Company (the “Articles of 
Association”).

Under the code provision C.2.1 of the CG Code, the roles of 
chairman and chief executive should be separate and should not 
be performed by the same individual. Mr. Li Chenghua currently 
holds the positions of the Chairman and chief executive officer 
of the Company. Throughout the history of the Group, Mr. Li, the 
Chairman, chief executive officer, executive director and controlling 
shareholder of the Company, has held key leadership position of the 
Group and has been responsible for overseeing all aspects of the 
operations of the Group including strategic planning, management, 
operation and business development. The Directors (including the 
INEDs) consider that Mr. Li is the best candidate for both positions 
and the present structure is conductive to strong and consistent 
leadership, enabling the Group to make and implement decisions 
efficiently, and thus is in the best interests of the Group and the 
Shareholders as a whole.

CONTINUOUS PROFESSIONAL DEVELOPMENT OF 
DIRECTORS
During the Reporting Period, according to the records provided by 
the Directors, all Directors, Mr. Li Chenghua, Mr. Chen Liming, Dr. 
Wang Hui, Ms. Cheung Bo Man and Ms. Yau Yin Hung, participated 
in continuous professional development activities by way of 
attending training and reading materials covering topics including 
continuing obligations of listed companies, prospectus liability of 
directors, connected transactions and corporate governance.
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SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS
The Company adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions 
by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set out in 
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules as its codes of conduct regarding 
securities transactions by the Directors and by relevant employees of 
the Group. All Directors have confirmed, following specific enquiries 
by the Company, that they fully complied with the Model Code and 
its code of conduct regarding the Directors’ securities transactions 
throughout the year and up to the date of this report.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a remuneration committee of the 
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) with written terms of 
reference in compliance with the CG Code of the Listing Rules. 
The Remuneration Committee comprises three INEDs, namely 
Ms. Cheung Bo Man, Dr. Wang Hui and Ms. Yau Yin Hung. The 
Remuneration Committee is chaired by Ms. Cheung Bo Man.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make 
recommendation to the Board on the Company’s policy and 
structure for all the remuneration packages, bonuses and other 
compensation payable to the Directors and senior management 
and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure 
for developing remuneration policy; review and approve the 
management’s remuneration proposals with reference to the Board’s 
corporate goals and objectives; and make recommendations to 
the Board on the remuneration of non-executive Directors. The 
Directors are remunerated with reference to their respective duties 
and responsibilities with the Company, the Company’s performance, 
salaries paid by comparable companies and current market situation. 
The Remuneration Committee adopted the model under the CG 
Code to determine, with delegated responsibility, the specific 
remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and senior 
management.

The remuneration committee shall meet at least once a year in 
accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, one remuneration committee meeting was held 
and the attendance of each member is set out in the section headed 
“Board of directors” of this report.

Details of Directors’ emoluments and the retirement benefit schemes 
for the Reporting Period are disclosed in Note 8 to the consolidated 
financial statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE
The Company established a nomination committee of the Company 
(the “Nomination Committee”) with written terms of reference in 
compliance with the CG Code of the Listing Rules. The Nomination 
Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Ms. Yau Yin Hung, Dr. 
Wang Hui and Ms. Cheung Bo Man. The Nomination Committee is 
chaired by Ms. Yau Yin Hung.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the 
structure, size and composition (including the skills, knowledge, 
experience and diversity) of the Board; identify individuals suitably 
qualified to become Board members; assess the independence of 
INEDs; make recommendations to the Board on the composition 
of the audit committee, remuneration committee and other Board 
committees of the Company and the appointment or re-appointment 
of Directors and succession planning for Directors; and monitor the 
execution of the board diversity policy of the Company (the “Board 
Diversity Policy”) and review the implementation and effectiveness 
of the Board Diversity Policy.

The Nomination Committee shall identify director candidates with 
appropriate qualifications in accordance with the provisions under 
the Listing Rules, the Articles of Association and applicable laws and 
regulations and shall review the structure, size and composition of 
the Board annually and make recommendations on any proposed 
changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
The Nomination Committee shall consider the following factors 
when assessing the candidates:

• Integrity and reputation;

• Educational background, professional qualifications and work 
experience (including part-time jobs);

• Whether or not they have the necessary skills and experience;

• Whether or not they are able to spend sufficient time and 
energy to handle the Company’s affairs;

• Whether or not they will promote the diversity of the Board in 
all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural 
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, 
skills, knowledge and term of office;

• Whether or not the candidates for independent Directors meet 
the requirements for independence under Rule 3.13 of the 
Listing Rules; and

• Any other relevant factors as determined by the Nomination 
Committee or the Board from time to time.

The Nomination Committee shall convene committee meetings and 
invite the Board members to nominate candidates (if any) for the 
Nomination Committee to consider before convening the meeting. 
The Nomination Committee may also nominate candidates who 
have not been nominated by the Board members.

For the appointment of any director candidate, the Nomination 
Committee shall conduct adequate due diligence in respect of 
such candidate and make recommendations to the Board for 
consideration. Where necessary, the Nomination Committee shall 
seek independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, to 
perform its responsibilities.

For the re-appointment of any existing members of the Board, the 
Nomination Committee shall make recommendations to the Board 
for consideration. For every Director including those appointed for 
a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at least 
once every three years.
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If an INED has served more than nine years, such Director’s further 
appointment should be subject to a separate resolution to be approved 
by the Shareholders. The papers to the Shareholders accompanying 
that resolution should state why the Board (or the Nomination 
Committee) believes that the Director is still independent and should 
be re-elected, including the factors considered, the process and the 
discussion of the Board (or the Nomination Committee) in arriving at 
such determination.

Where all the INEDs have served more than nine years on the Board, 
the Company should disclose the length of tenure of each existing 
INED on a named basis in the circular to the Shareholders and/
or explanatory statement accompanying the notice of the annual 
general meeting; and appoint a new INED on the Board at the 
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company.

For the procedures for the Shareholders to nominate any director 
candidates, the procedures for the Shareholders to propose a person 
for election as a Director are posted on the Company’s website.

The Board shall have the right of final decision on all matters relating 
to the election of recommended candidates or re-appointed Directors 
at a general meeting of the Company.

Each of the executive Directors entered into a service agreement 
with the Company for an initial term of three years commencing 
from 5 December 2023 and shall continue thereafter unless and until 
terminated by either the Company or the executive Directors giving 
to the other not less than three months’ notice in writing. Each of the 
INEDs entered into a letter of appointment with the Company for a 
term of one year commencing from 5 December 2023. All Directors 
are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual 
general meeting of the Company in accordance with the Articles of 
Association.
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84(1) (2)

83(3)

83(3)

NOMINATION COMMITTEE (continued)
According to Articles 84(1)-(2) of the Articles of Association, at each 
annual general meeting of the Company one-third of the Directors 
for the time being (or, if their number is not a multiple of three, the 
number nearest to but not less than one-third) shall retire from office 
by rotation provided that every Director shall be subject to retirement 
at an annual general meeting of the Company at least once every 
three years. A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election and 
shall continue to act as a Director throughout the meeting at which 
he retires. The Directors to retire by rotation shall include (so far as 
necessary to ascertain the number of Directors to retire by rotation) 
any Director who wishes to retire and not to offer himself for re-
election. Any further Directors so to retire shall be those of the other 
Directors subject to retirement by rotation who have been longest 
in office since their last re-election or appointment and so that as 
between persons who became or were last re-elected Directors on 
the same day those to retire shall (unless they otherwise agree among 
themselves) be determined by lot. Any Director appointed by the 
Board pursuant to Article 83(3) shall not be taken into account in 
determining which particular Directors or the number of Directors 
who are to retire by rotation.

According to Article 83(3) of the Articles of Association, the Directors 
shall have the power from time to time and at any time to appoint 
any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board 
or as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director so appointed 
shall hold office only until the first annual general meeting of the 
Company after his appointment and shall then be eligible for re-
election.

The nomination committee shall meet at least once a year in 
accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, two nomination committee meetings was held 
and the attendance of each member is set out in the section headed 
“Board of directors” of this report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE
The Company established an audit committee of the Company (the 
“Audit Committee”) with written terms of reference in compliance 
with the CG Code of the Listing Rules. The Audit Committee 
comprises three INEDs, namely Dr. Wang Hui, Ms. Cheung Bo Man 
and Ms. Yau Yin Hung. The Audit Committee is chaired by Dr. Wang 
Hui.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review the risk 
management and internal control systems of the Group and the 
financial information, including accounting policies and practices 
and financial reporting of the Company; the financial statements and 
reports of the Group; and the terms of engagement and the scope of 
audit work of the auditor.



SHENGHUI CLEANNESS GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 202436

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(d) 

(e) 

AUDIT COMMITTEE (continued)
The audit committee shall meet at least twice a year in accordance 
with its terms of reference. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, five audit committee meetings was held and the attendance of 
each member is set out in the section headed “Board of directors” of 
this report.

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE
The Company established an investment committee of the Company 
(the “Investment Committee”) with written terms of reference. The 
Investment Committee comprises three INEDs, namely Dr. Wang 
Hui, Ms. Cheung Bo Man and Ms. Yau Yin Hung. The Investment 
Committee is chaired by Dr. Wang Hui.

The Investment Committee is responsible for the regular review 
of the investment management policy. The primary duties of the 
Investment Committee are:

(a) reviewing and evaluating the performance of the Group’s 
past investment projects and making recommendations to the 
Directors;

(b) monitoring and prohibiting the Group from participating in 
short-term securities transactions, including stocks, bonds, 
options, futures, derivatives, etc, except commercial mergers or 
acquisition and equity investment;

(c) monitoring and prohibiting the Group from the use of margin 
financing;

(d) researching and reviewing the Group’s future development 
investment projects (including mergers and acquisitions, joint 
ventures, equity investments, etc.), ensuring that the Group 
can only invest in business related to its principal business and 
make recommendations to the Directors; and

(e) implementing investment decision-making procedures within 
the scope of the authority of the Directors, and supervising the 
implementation of the investment decision-making procedures.

The investment committee shall meet at least once a year in 
accordance with its terms of reference. During the year ended 31 
December 2024, one investment committee meeting was held and 
the attendance of each member is set out in the section headed 
“Board of directors” of this report.
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1,000,000

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for overseeing the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements which give a 
true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group. 
The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating 
to events or conditions which may cast significant doubt upon the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.

AUDITOR AND THEIR REMUNERATION
The statement of the auditor of the Company about their reporting 
responsibilities on the Group’s consolidated financial statements for 
the Reporting Period is set out in the section “Independent Auditor’s 
Report” of this report. During the Reporting Period, remuneration 
paid and payable to the auditor of the Group is approximately 
HK$1,000,000 for annual audit and non-audit services in connection 
with agreed upon procedures for results announcement.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY
The Company adopted the Board Diversity Policy which sets out the 
approach to diversity on the Board and recognizes and embraces the 
benefits of having a diverse Board, and sees diversity at Board level 
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.

A truly diverse Board will include and make good use of differences 
in the talents, skills, regional and industry experience, background, 
gender and other qualities of the members of the Board. These 
differences will be considered in determining the optimum 
composition of the Board and when possible should be balanced 
appropriately. All appointments of the members of the Board are 
made on merit, in the content of the talents, skills and experience the 
Board as a whole requires to be effective.

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all 
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and 
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, 
the Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity 
and measure progress accordingly. The Board would ensure that 
appropriate balance of gender diversity is achieved with reference to 
stakeholders’ expectation and international and local recommended 
best practices. The Board also aspires to having an appropriate 
proportion of Directors who have direct experience in the core 
markets of the Group, with different ethnic backgrounds, and 
reflecting the Group’s strategy.
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25.7%
74.3%

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY (continued)
The Nomination Committee reviews and assesses the composition of 
the Board and makes recommendations to the Board on appointment 
of new directors of the Company. The Nomination Committee also 
oversees the conduct of the annual review of the effectiveness of the 
Board.

In reviewing and assessing the composition of the Board, the 
Nomination Committee will consider the benefits of all aspects of 
diversity, including without limitation, those described above, in 
order to maintain an appropriate range and balance of talents, skills, 
experience and background on the Board.

In recommending candidates for appointment to the Board, the 
Nomination Committee will consider candidates on merit against 
objective criteria and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on 
the Board. A comprehensive induction programme will be provided 
to each new director of the Company to ensure that he/she has a 
thorough understanding of the Group’s operations and policies as 
well as his/her role and responsibilities and to address any gaps in 
his/her knowledge. Relevant training will also be provided to the 
Directors from time to time to equip themselves with the attributes 
and competencies required for the Board.

In overseeing the conduct of the annual review of the effectiveness 
of the Board, the Nomination Committee will consider the balance 
of talents, skills, experience, independence and knowledge on the 
Board and the diversity representation of the Board.

The Nomination Committee will review the Board Diversity Policy 
annually, which will include an assessment of the effectiveness of the 
Board Diversity Policy. The Nomination Committee will discuss any 
revisions that may be required and recommend any such revisions to 
the Board for approval.

The Board currently comprises three female Directors and two male 
Directors. The Board is of the view that the existing gender diversity 
in respect of the Board is sufficient, and that the Board Diversity 
Policy and the nomination policy of the Company can ensure that 
there will be a pipeline of potential successors to the Board which 
continues the existing gender diversity in the Board.

The Company has also taken, and continues to take, steps to promote 
diversity at all levels of its workforce (including senior management). 
Opportunities for employment, training and career development are 
equally opened to all eligible employees without discrimination. As 
at 31 December 2024, the gender ratio of the Group’s workforce 
(including senior management) is 25.7% male and 74.3% female.
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NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING
The Company confirms that the deed of non-competition dated 
14 November 2023 and entered into by Mr. Chen Liming, Mr. Li 
Chenghua, Prosperity Cleanness Investment Holdings Limited and 
Sunrise Cleanness Investment Holdings Limited in favour of the 
Company, details of which were set out in the Prospectus, has been 
fully complied with and enforced for the Reporting Period. The 
Board also confirms that there is no other matter in relation to the 
aforesaid non-competition undertaking which should be brought to 
the attention of the Shareholders and the potential investors.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL
The Company is aiming to develop a sound and good internal control 
system and build risk awareness and control responsibility into the 
Group. The Board acknowledges its responsibility for maintaining 
a sound and effective risk management and internal control 
systems and reviewing their effectiveness in order to safeguard the 
interests of the Shareholders and the assets of the Company against 
unauthorized use or disposition, ensuring maintenance of proper 
books and records for the provision of reliable financial information, 
and ensuring compliance with the relevant rules and regulations.

The objectives of risk management and internal control systems 
are to maintain the highest possible integrity and continuity for 
services provided by the Company; safeguard the assets, including 
people, property and financial resources; ensure the uninterrupted 
availability of resources for the Company to perform continuously 
the critical business functions to support its critical objectives; ensure 
to appropriately deal with disruption; demonstrate responsible 
business continuity management processes to align with applicable 
accepted best practice standards and methods; and ensure the 
accurate and timely provision of information to staff, business 
partners, stakeholders and other relevant levels of government during 
an outage event.

The Board is responsible to identify, analyse, evaluate and monitor 
risks associated with any activity, function or process within their 
relevant scope of responsibility and authority for all activities and 
processes associated with the normal operation. The Company has 
established a risk management policy and procedures for the Group 
setting out the risk management process and risk assessment matrix.
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 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
(continued)
The main elements of the risk management process are to 
communicate and consult with internal and external stakeholders 
as appropriate at each stage of the risk management process and 
concerning the process as a whole; establish the external, internal 
and risk management context and the criteria against which risk to 
be evaluated; identify where, when, why and how events to prevent, 
degrade, delay or enhance the achievement of the objectives; 
determine consequences and likelihood of the level of risk by 
analysing the range of potential consequences to be occurred; 
compare estimated levels of risk against the pre-established criteria 
and consider the balance between potential benefits and adverse 
outcomes; develop and implement specific cost-effective strategies 
and action plans for increasing potential benefits and reducing 
potential costs; and monitor the effectiveness of all steps of the risk 
management process. Risks are effectively managed by the Group 
through the effective implementation of various controls including 
board approved risk management framework; maintenance of risk 
register; and regular review of risks and controls, particularly as 
the business changes. The Board would, at least annually, review 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management 
and internal control systems, including financial, operational and 
compliance controls.

Action items to mitigate the identified risks are developed for 
implementation. The Group’s risk management and internal 
control systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate the 
risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide 
reasonable and not absolute assurance against material misstatement 
or loss.

The procedures and internal controls of the Company for handling 
and dissemination of inside information includes conducting the 
affairs of the Company with close regard to the Guidelines on 
Disclosure of Inside Information published by Securities and Futures 
Commission, the Listing Rules and the policy of the Company 
relating inside information management and reminding the Directors 
and employees of the Group regularly about due compliance with all 
policies regarding the inside information.
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 RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL 
(continued)
Risk management and internal control systems are reviewed on an 
annual basis. During the Reporting Period, the Board reviewed the 
effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and internal control 
systems. The Company considered the Group’s risk management and 
internal control systems are effective and adequate.

The Company does not have an internal audit function. The 
Company is currently of the view that there is no immediate need 
to set up an internal audit function in light of the Group’s simple 
corporate and operation structure. Review on the need for an 
internal audit function will be performed, at least, an annual basis. 
The Audit Committee will, when necessary, make an assessment and 
then recommend to the Board for the appointment of internal audit 
professionals (with the requisite qualifications and experience) to 
undertake the internal audit function of the Group for the relevant 
financial years.

COMPANY SECRETARY
The Company engages Mr. Lau Kai San, as its company secretary (the 
“Company Secretary”). Its primary corporate contact person at the 
Company is Mr. Li Chenghua, the executive Director.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
Pursuant to the Articles of Association, any one or more Shareholders 
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of 
voting at general meetings of the Company, on a one vote per share 
basis, shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the 
Board or the Company Secretary, to require an extraordinary general 
meeting of the Company to be called by the Board for the transaction 
of any business or resolution specified in such requisition; and such 
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such 
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails 
to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 
(themselves) may convene a physical meeting at only one location 
which will be the principal place of the meeting determined by the 
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) 
as a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the 
requisitionist(s) by the Company.
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13.51(2)

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS (continued)
The Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the 
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures 
set out in the preceding paragraph. The written requisition should 
be signed by the requisitionists and deposited at the Company’s 
principal place of business in Hong Kong, specifying the 
Shareholders’ contact details and the resolution intended to be put 
forward at general meeting of the Company.

For including a resolution to propose a person for election as a 
Director at general meeting of the Company, the Shareholders are 
requested to follow the Articles of Association. A written notice 
signed by a Shareholder (other than the person to be proposed) duly 
qualified to attend and vote at the general meeting of the Company 
for which such notice is given of his intention to propose such 
person for election and also a written notice signed by the person to 
be proposed of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged 
at the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong or at the 
Company’s branch share registrar and transfer office in Hong Kong 
provided that the minimum length of the period, during which such 
notice(s) are given, shall be at least seven days and that (if the notices 
are submitted after the despatch of the notice of the general meeting 
of the Company appointed for such election) the period for lodgment 
of such notice(s) shall commence on the day after the despatch of 
the notice of the general meeting of the Company appointed for 
such election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of 
such general meeting of the Company. The written notice must state 
that person’s biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of 
the Listing Rules. The procedures for the Shareholders to propose 
a person for election as a Director are posted on the Company’s 
website.
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INVESTOR RELATIONS
The objective of the Shareholders’ communication is to ensure 
that the Shareholders, both individual and institutional, and, in 
appropriate circumstances, the investment community at large, 
are provided with ready, equal and timely access to balanced 
and understandable information about the Company (including 
its financial performance, strategic goals and plans, material 
developments, governance and risk profile), in order to enable the 
Shareholders to exercise their rights in an informed manner, and to 
allow the Shareholders and the investment community to engage 
actively with the Company.

Information shall be communicated to the Shareholders and the 
investment community mainly through the Company’s financial 
reports (interim and annual reports), annual general meetings and 
other general meetings that may be convened, as well as by making 
available all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and 
its corporate communications and other corporate publications on 
the Company’s website. Information on the Company’s website 
(www.gzshqj.com) is updated on a regular basis.

The Shareholders should direct their questions about their 
shareholdings to the Company’s branch share registrar and 
transfer office in Hong Kong. The Shareholders and the investment 
community may at any time make a request for the Company’s 
information to the extent such information is publicly available. 
The Shareholders and the investment community may also make 
enquiries to the Board by writing to the Company Secretary at the 
Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong at 5th Floor 
Gloucester Tower, The Landmark, 11 Pedder Street, Central, Hong 
Kong.

Upon reviewing the implementation and effectiveness of the 
Shareholders’ communication policy of the Company, the Board 
considers the policy and its implementation are effective as 
the policy provides effective channels for the Shareholders to 
communicate their views with the Company and the Company 
complied with the principles and required practices as set out in the 
policy during the Reporting Period.

The amended and restated memorandum and articles of association 
of the Company was adopted on 14 November 2023 and took effect 
from the Listing Date. There had been no significant change in the 
Company’s constitutional documents since the Listing Date.
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The Directors present their annual report and the audited consolidated 
financial statements of the Group for the Reporting Period.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES
The principal activity of the Company is investment holding and the 
activities of its principal subsidiaries are shown on pages 175 to 177.

BUSINESS REVIEW
A discussion and analysis of the Group’s performance during the 
Reporting Period, the key factors affecting its results and financial 
position, and the information on the compliance with laws and 
regulations that have a significant impact on the Company, 
performance and relationships with stakeholders that have a 
significant impact on the Company are set out in the section headed 
“Management Discussion and Analysis” of this report. Save as 
disclosed in this report, since the end of the Reporting Period, no 
significant event affecting the Group has occurred.

GROUP PROFIT
The Group’s results for the Reporting Period are set out in the 
Group’s consolidated statement of comprehensive income on page 
111 of this report.

FINAL DIVIDEND
The Board has resolved not to recommend the declaration of any 
final dividend for the Reporting Period.

RESERVES
Movements in the reserves of the Group and the Company during 
the Reporting Period are set out in note 22 and note 28(c) to the 
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

SHARE CAPITAL
Details of the shares movement during the Reporting Period are set 
out in note 21 to the consolidated financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS
During the Reporting Period, the Group’s largest and five largest 
customers represented approximately 2.1% and 12.2% of the 
Group’s total revenue respectively, and the Group’s largest and five 
largest suppliers represented approximately 14.0% and 28.4% of the 
Group’s total cost of sales respectively.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS (continued)
None of the Directors nor any of their close associates (as defined 
in the Listing Rules) nor any Shareholders (which, to the knowledge 
of the Directors, owns more than 5% of the issued Shares) had any 
beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and/or five 
largest suppliers during the Reporting Period.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE LISTED 
SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY
Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or 
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities since the Listing 
Date.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
Information on the corporate governance practices adopted by the 
Company are set out in the “Corporate Governance Report” on pages 
26 to 44 of this report.

DIVIDEND POLICY
The Company adopted a policy on payment of dividends (the 
“Dividend Policy”) in compliance with code provision F.1.1 of the 
CG Code. The Company will declare and/or recommend the payment 
of dividends to Shareholders after considering the Company’s ability 
to pay dividends, which will depend upon, among other things, its 
actual and expected financial results, cash flow, general business 
conditions and strategies, current and future operations, statutory, 
contractual and regulatory restrictions and so on. The Board has the 
discretion on whether to pay a dividend, subject to Shareholders’ 
approval, where applicable. Even if the Board decides to recommend 
and pay dividends, the form, frequency and amount will depend 
upon the operations and earnings, capital requirements and surplus, 
general financial condition, contractual restrictions and other factors 
of and affecting the Group. The Board may also consider declaring 
special dividends from time to time, in addition to the interim and/or 
final dividends.

The Dividend Policy will be reviewed by the Board for its 
effectiveness on a regular basis or as required.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors during the Reporting period and up to the date of this 
report are:

Executive Directors:
Mr. Li Chenghua (Chairman and Chief Executive Officer) 
Mr. Chen Liming

Independent Non-Executive Directors:
Ms. Chong Sze Pui Joanne, MH 
 (resigned with effect from 1 June 2024) 
Ms. Cheung Bo Man 
Ms. Yau Yin Hung 
Dr. Wang Hui
 (appointed with effect from  26 July 2024)

In accordance with Articles 83–84 of the Articles of Association, 
all the Directors will retire by rotation and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting 
of the Company.

The Company received annual confirmations of independence from 
each of the INEDs as required under Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. 
The Company considered all INEDs to be independent. 

Biographical details of the Directors and the senior management of 
the Group are set out on pages 18 to 25 of this report.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS
Each of the executive Directors entered into a service agreement with 
the Company for an initial term of three years commencing from the 
Listing Date and shall continue thereafter unless and until terminated 
by either the Company or the executive Directors giving to the other 
not less than three months’ notice in writing.

Each of the INEDs entered into a letter of appointment with the 
Company for a term of one year commencing from the Listing Date.

None of the Directors, including those to be re-elected at the annual 
general meeting of the Company, has a service contract or letter of 
appointment with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not 
determinable by the employing company within one year without 
the payment of compensation (other than statutory compensation).
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DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN 
SIGNIFICANT TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
OR CONTRACTS
Save as disclosed in Note 27 to the consolidated financial statements, 
there were no transactions, arrangements or contracts that are 
significant in relation to the businesses of the Group to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiary was a party and in which a Director 
or his/her connected entity had a material interest, whether directly 
or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period or at any 
time during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS
Under the Articles of Association, and subject to the applicable 
laws and regulations, the Directors and officers of the Group shall 
be indemnified out of the assets and profits of the Company from 
or against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses 
which they or any of them may incur or sustain in or about the 
execution of their duty in their offices. During the Reporting Period 
and up to the date of this report, such indemnity provision was in 
force. The Company has taken out and maintained appropriate 
insurance cover in respect of potential legal actions against the 
Directors.
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(a) 

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSIT IONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS
As at 31 December 2024, the interests and short positions of the 
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares, 
underlying shares and debentures of the Company or its associated 
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which 
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant 
to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and 
short positions which they are taken or deemed to have under such 
provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to Section 
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein or 
which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock 
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as set out in Appendix C3 of 
the Listing Rules were as follows:

(a) Long positions in the Shares

Name of Directors Nature of interest
Number of 
Shares held

Percentage of 
issued share capital

    

Mr. Li Chenghua (“Mr. Li”) 
 (Notes 1 to 3)

 1 3

Interest in controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Interest of controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Mr. Chen Liming (“Mr. Chen”) 
 (Notes 1 to 3)

 1 3

Interest in controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Interest of controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%
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(a) 

1. 586,543,750

2. 586,543,750

3. 

1,173,087,500
586,543,750

586,543,750

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSIT IONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS 
(continued)
(a) Long positions in the Shares (continued) 

Notes:

1. 586,543,750 Shares are held by Prosperity Cleanness Investment 
Holdings Limited (“Prosperity Cleanness”) which is wholly owned 
by Mr. Li. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in all the 
Shares held by Prosperity Cleanness under the SFO.

2. 586,543,750 Shares are held by Sunrise Cleanness Investment 
Holdings Limited (“Sunrise Cleanness”) which is wholly owned by 
Mr. Chen. Therefore, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in all 
the Shares held by Sunrise Cleanness under the SFO.

3. On 16 March 2021, Mr. Li and Mr. Chen executed the 
confirmation, pursuant to which Mr. Li and Mr. Chen confirmed 
that they have been a group of controlling shareholders of the 
Company under the Listing Rules. Accordingly, each of Mr. Li, 
Prosperity Cleanness, Mr. Chen and Sunrise Cleanness is deemed 
to be interested in 1,173,087,500 Shares which are 586,543,750 
Shares held by Prosperity Cleanness and 586,543,750 Shares held 
by Sunrise Cleanness.
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1. 
33.4%

2. 
33.4%

XV

XV 7 8
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSIT IONS IN THE SHARES, 
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF THE 
COMPANY AND ITS ASSOCIATED CORPORATIONS 
(continued)
(b) Long positions in the shares of associated corporations

Name of Directors
Name of associated
corporation Nature of interest

Number of
shares held

Percentage of
interest in
associated

corporation

     

Mr. Li (Note 1) Prosperity Cleanness Beneficial owner 1 100%
1

Mr. Chen (Note 2) Sunrise Cleanness Beneficial owner 1 100%
2

Notes:

1. The Company is owned as to 36.095% by Prosperity Cleanness 
which is wholly owned by Mr. Li.

2. The Company is owned as to 36.095% by Sunrise Cleanness 
which is wholly owned by Mr. Chen.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, none of the 
Directors or chief executives of the Company had any interests or 
short positions in any shares, underlying shares or debentures of the 
Company or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the 
SFO (including interests or short positions which they are taken 
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which 
were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in 
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to 
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code as 
set out in Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules.
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XV 2 3
336

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY 
As at 31 December 2024, the following persons had interests or short 
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company which 
were notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO and entered in the register 
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO 
were as follows:

Long positions in the Shares

Name of Shareholders Nature of interest
Number of
Shares held

Percentage of
issued share capital

     

(a) Prosperity Cleanness 
 (Notes 1 to 3)

1 3

Beneficial owner

Others (Interest of controlling 
 shareholders)

586,543,750 33.4%

586,543,750 33.4%

Mr. Li (Notes 1 to 3)
1 3

Interest in controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Interest of controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Ms. Tang Yongzhen (Note 4)
4

Interest of spouse 586,543,750 33.4%

(b) Sunrise Cleanness (Notes 1 to 3)
1 3

Beneficial owner 586,543,750 33.4%

Others (Interest of controlling 
 shareholders)

586,543,750 33.4%

Mr. Chen (Notes 1 to 3)
1 3

Interest in controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%

Interest of controlled corporation 586,543,750 33.4%
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1. 586,543,750

2. 586,543,750

3. 

1 ,173,087,500
5 8 6 , 5 4 3 , 7 5 0

586,543,750

4. 

XV 2 3
336

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS 
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN THE SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY 
(continued)
Long positions in the Shares (continued)
Notes:

1. 586,543,750 Shares are held by Prosperity Cleanness which is wholly 
owned by Mr. Li. Therefore, Mr. Li is deemed to be interested in all the 
Shares held by Prosperity Cleanness under the SFO.

2. 586,543,750 Shares are held by Sunrise Cleanness which is wholly 
owned by Mr. Chen. Therefore, Mr. Chen is deemed to be interested in 
all the Shares held by Sunrise Cleanness under the SFO.

3. On 16 March 2021, Mr. Li and Mr. Chen executed the confirmation, 
pursuant to which Mr. Li and Mr. Chen confirmed that they have been 
a group of controlling shareholders of the Company under the Listing 
Rules. Accordingly, each of Mr. Li, Prosperity Cleanness, Mr. Chen 
and Sunrise Cleanness is deemed to be interested in 1,173,087,500 
Shares which are 586,543,750 Shares held by Prosperity Cleanness and  
586,543,750 Shares held by Sunrise Cleanness.

4. Ms. Tang Yongzhen is the spouse of Mr. Li. By virtue of the SFO, Ms. 
Tang Yongzhen is deemed to be interested in the Shares which Mr. Li 
has interest in.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2024, the Company had 
not been notified by any persons who had interests or short positions 
in the shares or underlying shares of the Company which would fall 
to be disclosed to the Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register 
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS
Save as disclosed in the sections headed “Share Option Scheme” in 
this report, no equity-linked agreements that will or may result in 
the Company issuing shares nor require the Company to enter into 
an agreement that will or may result in the Company issuing shares 
was entered into by the Company during the Reporting Period or 
subsisted at the end of the Reporting Period.
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(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(i)

(ii)

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share 
Option Scheme”) on 14 November 2023. The purpose of the Share 
Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available personnel, 
to provide additional incentive to employees, directors, advisers, 
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents and service 
providers of the Group and to promote the success of the business of 
the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person 
belonging to any of the following classes of participants to take up 
options to subscribe for Shares:

(a) any director and employee of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options as 
an inducement to enter into employment contracts with 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries)(the “Employee 
Participants”);

(b) any director and employee of the holding companies, fellow 
subsidiaries or associated companies of the Company;

(c) any person who provides services to the Group on a continuing 
and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual course of business 
which are in the interests of the long-term growth of the 
Group, including but not limited to person(s) who work for 
the Company as independent contractors (including advisers, 
consultants, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents and 
service providers of any member of the Group) where the 
continuity and frequency of their services are akin to those 
of employees, but excluding (i) placing agents or financial 
advisers providing advisory services for fundraising, mergers 
or acquisitions; and (ii) professional service providers such as 
auditors or valuers who provide assurance, or are required to 
perform their services with impartiality and objectivity (the 
“Service Providers”).

The exercise price shall be a price solely determined by the Board 
and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the 
closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily 
quotations sheet on the offer date; (ii) the average of the closing 
prices of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the offer 
date; and (iii) the nominal value of the Shares on the offer date.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all 
options and awards to be granted under the Share Option Scheme 
and any other share option scheme(s) and share award scheme(s) of 
the Company shall not exceed 10% of the total number of Shares 
in issue as at the Listing Date, being up to 162,500,000 Shares as 
at 31 December 2024. The total number of Shares which may be 
issued in respect of all options granted to Service Providers shall not 
exceed 1% of the total number of Shares in issue. The total number 
of Shares issued and to be issued in respect of all options and awards 
granted to each participant (excluding any options or awards lapsed 
in accordance with the terms of the relevant schemes) under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) and 
share award scheme(s) of the Company in any 12-month period up 
to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the Shares 
in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board may 
determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of grant 
subject to the provisions of early termination thereof. The amount 
payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on acceptance 
of the offer is HK$1.

The vesting period for the options shall not be less than 12 months 
from the offer date, provided that where the participant is an 
Employee Participants, the Board will have the authority to determine 
a shorter vesting period under some specific circumstances.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of 10 
years commencing on 14 November 2023 and shall expire at the 
close of business on the business day immediately preceding the 
tenth anniversary thereof.

As at 31 December 2024, there was no option outstanding, granted, 
cancelled, exercised or lapsed.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS
No contracts concerning the management and administration of the 
whole or any substantial part of the businesses of the Company were 
entered into or existed during the Reporting Period.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT
As at the date of this report, based on the information that is publicly 
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, 
the Company has maintained the prescribed public float under the 
Listing Rules.

AUDITOR
During the year, PricewaterhouseCoopers resigned as the auditor 
of the Company and CL Partners CPA Limited (“CL Partners 
CPA”) was appointed as the auditor of the Company on 28 
November 2024 to fill the causal vacancy following the resignation 
of PricewaterhouseCoopers. Please refer to the Company’s 
announcement on 13 November 2024 for more details regarding the 
change of auditor.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 
December 2024 have been audited by CL Partners CPA Limited and 
Registered Public Interest Entity Auditor, who will retire and, being 
eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the forthcoming 
annual general meeting of the Company.

By Order of the Board
Shenghui Cleanness Group Holdings Limited

Li Chenghua
Chairman and Executive Director
28 March 2025
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ABOUT THIS REPORT
Shenghui Cleanness Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”, 
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”) is principally engaged in 
the provision of environmental cleaning and maintenance services. 
The Group serves a wide range of premises, including commercial 
buildings, transportation hubs such as airports, residential properties, 
shopping malls and commercial complexes, streets, parks and other 
public spaces, mainly providing basic cleaning and maintenance 
services, garbage collection and transportation services, waste 
collection and transportation services, as well as water tank cleaning 
services and ancillary services. The Group also offers specialised 
cleaning services such as stone cleaning and restoration, and high-
altitude cleaning using mobile elevated platform.

This environmental, social and governance report (the “ESG Report”) 
summarises the practises, plans, performances and other relevant 
information of the Group in environmental, social and governance 
(“ESG”) aspects.

Reporting Period
Unless specially stated otherwise, this ESG Report covers the ESG 
activities, challenges and measures of the Group for the year ended 
31 December 2024 (“Year 2024” or the “Reporting Period”).

Reporting Scope
The disclosure of the report covers the Group’s major operating 
sites in the PRC. The reporting scope is determined based on the 
materiality and environmental and social risks of the businesses 
under the Group’s direct operational control.
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Reporting Framework
This ESG Report has been prepared in accordance with the 
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG 
Reporting Guide”) set out in Appendix C2 to the Rules Governing the 
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”).

During the preparation of this ESG Report, the Group has applied 
the reporting principles in the ESG Reporting Guide. The reporting 
principles that the Group applied are set out below:

Materiality: Materiality assessment was conducted with key 
stakeholders to identify material issues during the Reporting Period, 
thereby adopting the confirmed material issues as the focus for the 
preparation of this ESG Report. The materiality of the issues was 
reviewed and confirmed by the board (the “Board”) of directors 
(the “Directors”) of the Company and the Environmental, Social 
and Governance Working Group (the “ESG Working Group”). For 
further details, please refer to the sections headed “STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT” and “MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT”.

Quantitative: To measure the effectiveness of ESG-related policies, 
the Group has adopted the ESG Reporting Guide and the relevant 
guidelines published by the Stock Exchange and other international 
organisations to quantify and present a number of quantitative 
environmental and social KPIs (“KPIs”). Details of the standards used 
are described in the relevant sections of this ESG Report.

Balance: This ESG Report aims to provide a balanced and unbiased 
representation of the Group’s performance.

Consistency: The Group will adopt consistent statistical methods 
for ESG reports in subsequent years, facilitating meaningful data 
comparisons.

C2
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BOARD STATEMENT
Dear stakeholders,

On behalf of the Board, I am pleased to present the Group’s ESG 
Report for Year 2024, which demonstrates the Group’s growing 
commitment to sustainable development. As a company principally 
engaged in the provision of environmental cleaning and maintenance 
services, sustainability is one of the key elements in the Group’s 
development.

The Board is committed to driving sustainable development in the 
Group’s business operations. The Board has overall responsibility 
for the Group’s ESG strategy and reporting, while both the members 
of the Board and the ESG Working Group support the Board in 
establishing and implementing ESG-related policies and procedures, 
as well as monitor and collect ESG-related information. The Board 
continuously monitors and reviews the key risks affecting the 
sustainability of the Group’s business. The risk management and 
internal control frameworks provide a structured approach for the 
Board to formulate policies and ensure effective execution. Where 
appropriate, external advisors would be engaged to provide expertise 
and professional advice for the ESG management process. More 
information about the Group’s governance structure is stated in the 
section headed “GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY”.

The Group continuously communicates with its stakeholders to 
understand their concerns and fulfil their expectations. In order to 
identify and assess the material concerns of the Group’s stakeholders, 
the Group has conducted materiality assessment surveys through 
stakeholder engagement. The assessment helped the Group 
determine the factors that have material impacts on the Group’s 
sustainable growth, so as to incorporate them in the ESG strategies 
and targets.
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The Group has set various targets on particular KPIs. The 
environmental targets were approved by the Board and the progress 
is reviewed by the ESG Working Group annually. Aiming to achieve 
the targets, the Group is committed to implementing various 
measures mentioned in this ESG Report. The Board believes that 
the ESG-related targets can raise employees’ awareness of ESG, 
drive behavioural changes and facilitate the incorporation of ESG 
initiatives into the Group’s operational strategy.

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express my gratitude to 
my fellow Directors, the management team, all employees and 
stakeholders for their contributions to the Group’s sustainable 
development.

Mr. Li Chenghua
Chairman of the Board, Chief Executive Officer and 
Executive Director
Hong Kong, 16 March 2025
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GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY
The Group considers ESG management as part of its fiduciary duty 
and strives to embed ESG considerations into daily operations and 
management. All of the involved personnel possess relevant expertise 
and skills and is committed to keeping abreast of ESG updates.

The Board holds the overall responsibility for the Group’s strategy, 
reporting, overseeing and management of ESG-related issues. To 
ensure the effectiveness of ESG risk management measures and 
related internal control systems, the Board is and will be responsible 
for overseeing the formulation and reporting of ESG strategies and 
determining ESG-related risks. The Board will continuously assess 
or engage qualified independent third parties to assess the risks and 
the existing strategies, indicators, objectives and internal control of 
the Group and will implement necessary improvements to mitigate 
such risks. The Board discusses and reviews the Group’s ESG-related 
risks, opportunities, performance, progress, goals and targets at least 
once per year. The Board also ensures the effectiveness of ESG risk 
management and internal control mechanism.

The ESG Working Group supports the Board in establishing and 
implementing ESG-related policies and procedures, as well as 
monitors and collects ESG-related information. The ESG Working 
Group shall also report the implementation of ESG-related risk 
management to the Board on a regular basis. The ESG Working 
Group conducts risk assessment at least once a year, covering the 
current and potential risks faced by the Group’s business, including 
but not limited to the risks arising from ESG and climate-related 
issues, and then reports the results to the Board.

In addition, the management regularly conducts review and 
supervision on the progress and effectiveness of ESG initiatives to 
identify the risks brought by ESG issues such as climate change. 
During the implementation of ESG initiatives, the management 
identifies material ESG-related opportunities and reports their 
analysis, recommendations and action plans to the ESG Working 
Group at least once a year for review.
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STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT
Effective and ongoing stakeholder engagement is an integral part 
of the Group’s business development and commitment to the 
environment and society. By understanding the Group’s stakeholders’ 
views, the Group can align its business practices with their needs 
and expectations. This approach enables the Group to build trust and 
mutual beneficial relationships with its stakeholders and promote 
sustainability.

The Group has formulated its engagement approach based on 
the engagement objectives and stakeholders’ level of interest and 
influence. As part of its business strategy, the Group engages with 
its stakeholders via different channels. The Group’s stakeholders, 
the communication channels, and stakeholders’ expectations and 
concerns are set out below:

Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations and Concerns

   

Investors and 
shareholders

– Annual general meeting and other 
shareholders’ meetings

– Regular corporate publications including 
financial statements

– Notices, circulars and announcements 
when necessary

– Compliant operation

– Financial results

– Corporate sustainable development

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

Customers – Customer activities

– Satisfaction survey

– Telephone and in-person meetings

– Service quality

– Protection of customer information and 
Privacy

– Business integrity and ethics

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
   



SHENGHUI CLEANNESS GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 202462

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations and Concerns

   

Employees – Training activities

– Team building activities

– Regular performance appraisal

– Employee meetings

– Daily communication and reporting

– Career development

– Health and safety

– Compensation and benefits

– Equal opportunity

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

Suppliers and business 
partners

– Meetings

– Site visits

– Regular evaluation

– Exchanges and visits

– Fair competition

– Business ethics and reputation

– Service quality

– Win-win cooperation

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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Stakeholders Communication Channels Expectations and Concerns

   

Government 
departments and 
regulators

– Daily communication and reporting

– Compliance management

– Proactive tax payment

– Information disclosure

– Written communication when necessary

– Policy implementation

– Compliance with laws and regulations

– Tax payment in accordance with the law

– Business ethics

– Community engagement

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

Media, community and 
non-governmental 
organisations

– Community activities

– Investment and donation

– Company website

– Circulars and announcements

– ESG report

– Compliant operation

– Promoting community development

– Environmental protection

– Business ethics

– Health and safety

 – 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 

– 
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT
In hope of understanding the views and expectations of stakeholders 
on the Group’s ESG performance effectively, the Group has 
adopted a systematic approach in conducting the annual materiality 
assessment. With reference to the Group’s business development 
strategy and industry practices, the Group identified and determined 
a list of material ESG issues. The Group prepared a questionnaire 
based on the list and invited relevant stakeholder representatives to 
rate the material issues according to the level of importance to the 
stakeholders and to the Group. The results of the survey were analysed 
and a materiality matrix was developed. The materiality matrix and 
the identified material topics were reviewed and confirmed by the 
Board and the ESG Working Group and disclosed in this ESG Report. 
The Group’s materiality matrix is set out below:
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Label
Material ESG issues   

1 Air emissions
2 Greenhouse gas emissions
3 Waste management
4 Energy consumption
5 Water management
6 Use of chemicals
7 Climate risk response actions
8 Employee compensation and benefits
9 Recruitment, promotion and dismissal
10 Equal opportunity
11 Occupational health and safety
12 Employee development and training
13 Child and forced labour prevention
14 Supply chain management
15 Service quality
16 Customer privacy protection
17 Responsible marketing
18 Anti-corruption
19 Social welfare
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CONTACT THE GROUP
The Group welcomes stakeholders’ opinions and suggestions. 
You can provide valuable advice in respect of this ESG Report or 
the Group’s performance in sustainable development through the 
following means.

Email: tys0903@gzshqj.com

Postal address:  5F, Building 1, Dongjun Plaza, No. 836, Dongfeng 
East Road, Yuexiu District, Guangzhou

A. ENVIRONMENTAL
Emissions
The Group recognises the importance of environmental 
protection as the starting point for sustainability. The Group 
is committed to reducing the environmental impact of its 
operations and promoting environmental protection within 
the Group and the supply chain. The Group has developed 
the Environmental, Social and Governance Policy (the “ESG 
Policy”) to meet its environmental objectives in carbon 
reduction, waste reduction and emission reduction.

The Group recognises that its operations have an impact on the 
environment and acknowledges that addressing environmental 
issues is a collective responsibility shared by every member 
of the community. The Group is committed to minimising the 
adverse impact that its operations may have on the environment. 
The Group continually improves its environmental management 
practices and measures to reduce energy and other resource 
consumption, minimise waste and promote a recycling culture 
within the Group.

 

tys0903@gzshqj.com

 836
1 5F

A. 
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1. 
–

In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material 
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on itself relating to air and GHG emissions, 
discharges into water and land, and generation of hazardous 
and non-hazardous waste. The relevant laws and regulations 
include, but are not limited to, the Environmental Protection 
Law of the PRC, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and 
Control of Environmental Pollution by Solid Waste, the Law 
of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Water Pollution 
and the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of 
Atmospheric Pollution.

Air Pollutants Emissions
The Group’s air pollutants emissions are mainly generated from 
the Group’s daily operations.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s air emissions were as 
follows:

Indicator1 1

Unit Year 2024

The year 
ended 31 

December 2023 
(“Year 2023”)

     

Nitrogen oxides kilograms (“kg”) 487.72 592.25

Sulphur oxides kg 1.01 0.93

Particulates kg 37.65 44.92

     

Note

1. The calculation of air emissions is based on the emission factors 
in the “How to prepare an ESG Report – Appendix 2: Reporting 
Guidance on Environmental KPIs” published by the Stock 
Exchange.
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3. 

GHG Emissions
The Group’s GHG emissions are mainly attributable to direct 
GHG emissions (Scope 1) and energy indirect GHG emissions 
(Scope 2). Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1) are from the 
fuel consumption of the Group’s vehicles. Energy indirect 
GHG emissions (Scope 2) are from the Group’s consumption 
of electricity purchased from external sources. During the 
Reporting Period, the Group’s total GHG emissions were 
approximately 273.68 metric tons (“MT”) of carbon dioxide 
equivalent (“tCO2e”).

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s GHG emissions were 
as follows:

Indicator1 1

Unit Year 2024 Year 2023

     

Direct GHG emissions (Scope 1)
1

tCO2e 174.04 173.61 3

Energy indirect GHG emissions (Scope 2)
2

tCO2e 99.64 166.48

Total GHG Emissions tCO2e 273.68 340.09 3

Total GHG emission intensity2  
2

tCO2e/RMB million 
revenue

 

0.41 0.54 3

     

Notes

1. GHG emissions data are presented in tonnes of carbon dioxide 
equivalent and are based on, including but not limited to, “The 
Greenhouse Gas Protocol: A Corporate Accounting and Reporting 
Standards” issued by the World Resources Institute and the World 
Business Council for Sustainable Development, “Global Warming 
Potential Values” in the IPCC Sixth Assessment Report (AR6) and 
the “Announcement on the Release of the 2022 Electricity Carbon 
Emission Factor” issued by the Ministry of Ecological Environment 
of the PRC;

2. During the Report ing Period, the Group’s revenue was 
approximately RMB 673,558,000 and the revenue in Year 2023 
was approximately RMB 630,172,000. The data are also used for 
calculating other intensity data; and

3. The data has been restate to reflect the actual situation.
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0.83

10%

The Group has set a target to limit the Group’s total GHG 
emission intensity growth to not more than 10% from Year 
2023 to the year ending 31 December 2025 (“Year 2025”), 
with the year ending 31 December 2022 (“Year 2022”) as 
the baseline, which was approximately 0.83 tCO2e per RMB 
million revenue. Attributed to the Group’s efforts, the Group’s 
total GHG emission intensity in Year 2024 met the target and 
will strive to continue to maintain the progress. The Group 
actively implements energy-saving measures and strives to 
reduce greenhouse gas emissions. Please refer to the section 
headed “ENERGY MANAGEMENT” for details of the Group’s 
energy-saving measures.

Wastewater Discharge
The Group is committed to ensuring that the discharged water 
pollutants do not exceed the national or local standards for the 
discharge of water pollutants and the indices for control of the 
total discharge of major water pollutants. During the Reporting 
Period, the sewage discharged by the Group were discharged 
into the municipal sewage pipe network.

Waste Management
The Group has formulated the ESG policy to ensure all 
hazardous and non-hazardous waste is properly and safely 
managed. The workers of the Group carry out work on the 
customers’ premises when providing cleaning services. The 
cleaning services provided by the Group include helping 
customers dispose of the waste they generate. Since the relevant 
waste is not generated by the Group, the waste that the Group 
disposes of on behalf of its customers is not included in the 
disclosed data of the Group.

Hazardous Waste
The Group does not generate substantial hazardous waste in 
daily operations directly. If hazardous waste is involved, the 
Group engages third parties with relevant licences to collect 
hazardous waste.
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• 

• 

• 

Non-hazardous Waste
The Group’s non-hazardous waste mainly includes office 
papers. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s generation of 
non-hazardous waste was approximately 2.06 MT.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s generation of non-
hazardous waste was as follows:

Indicator
Unit Year 2024 Year 2023

     

Total non-hazardous waste MT 2.06 1.30

Total non-hazardous waste 
intensity

kg/RMB million revenue 3.06 2.06

     

The Group has set a target to limit the intensity growth of the 
Group’s total non-hazardous waste from Year 2024 to Year 
2025 to not more than 10%, with Year 2022 as the baseline, 
which was approximately 2.06 kg per RMB million revenue. 
The Group proactively implements environmentally friendly 
measures to strive to achieve its waste reduction target. Among 
all, the Group has adopted the following waste reduction 
measures:

• Establish a waste sorting and recycling plan to classify, 
collect, and treat recyclable materials and valuable waste;

• Provide regular training and education to raise employees’ 
awareness on waste reduction and environmental 
protection measures; and

• Use reusable cleaning tools and equipment as much as 
possible to reduce the use of disposables.
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2. 

3. 

4. 

Use of Resources
The Group has established the ESG Policy to manage the use 
of resources to uphold its commitment to achieve high energy 
efficiency and optimise the use of other resources during its 
business operations.

Energy Management
While the Group consumes energy for its daily business 
operations, it actively identifies aspects that can reduce 
energy consumption. The Group’s energy consumption is 
mainly focused on office uses and does not include the energy 
consumption directly generated from the provision of services 
to customers. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s total 
energy consumption was approximately 666.40 MWh.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s energy consumption 
was as follows:

Indicator
Unit Year 2024 Year 2023

     

Direct energy consumption1, 2 1, 2 MWh 666.40 671.57 4

Indirect energy consumption3 3 MWh 185.69 291.92

Total energy consumption MWh 852.09 963.49 4

Total energy consumption 
intensity

MWh/revenue in RMB million
 

1.27 1.53 4

     

Notes

1. Direct energy consumption represents diesel and petrol consumed 
by the Group for the use of vehicles;

2. The unit conversion calculation is based on the conversion factors 
in “Energy Statistics Manual” issued by the International Energy 
Agency;

3. Indirect energy consumption represents electricity purchased from 
external sources and consumed by the Group; and

4. The data has been restated to reflect the actual situation.
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6,989.05

The Group has set a target of maintaining the increase in total 
energy consumption intensity from Year 2023 to Year 2025 
to not more than 10%, with Year 2022 as the baseline, which 
was approximately 2.67 MWh per revenue in RMB million. 
In Year 2024, the Group’s total energy consumption intensity 
was in line with the target and the Group will strive to continue 
to maintain the progress. The Group proactively implements 
energy-saving measures to strive to achieve its energy use 
efficiency target. Among all, the Group has adopted the 
following energy-saving measures:

• Monitor and review the environmental performance 
indicators, such as fuel, electricity and water consumption 
levels;

• Encourage employees to reduce the use of unnecessary 
lighting and turn off unused machinery and equipment to 
save energy and costs; and

• Develop machinery and equipment management plans, 
including regular inspections, repairs and maintenance, to 
ensure that they are in ideal and reliable condition.

Water Management
The Group’s water consumption is mainly derived from the 
offices and facilities. During the Reporting Period, the Group’s 
total water consumption was approximately 6,989.05 m3.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s water consumption 
was as follows:

Indicators
Units Year 2024 Year 2023

     

Total water consumption m3 6,989.05 15,922.91

Total water consumption intensity m3/revenue in RMB million 10.38 25.27
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The Group has set a target of maintaining the increase in total 
water consumption intensity from Year 2023 to Year 2025 to 
not more than 10%, with Year 2022 as the baseline, which 
was approximately 26.89 m3 per revenue in RMB million. In 
Year 2024, the Group’s total water consumption intensity was 
in line with the target and the Group will strive to continue 
to maintain the progress. The Group proactively implements 
water-saving measures to achieve its water efficiency target. For 
example, the Group has reminded employees of the importance 
of water conservation while all employees are required to turn 
off water faucets when they are not in use, so as to encourage 
all employees to develop the habit of conserving water 
consciously.

The Group attaches great importance to water resource 
conservation. During the Reporting Period, the water supply of 
the Group was from municipal governments and there was no 
difficulty in obtaining water resources.

Use of cleaning chemicals
We place a high priority on the responsible use of cleaning 
chemicals, recognising that improper handling poses risks not 
only to the occupational health and safety of our employees, 
but also damages the environment. Therefore, we provide 
our employees with training on adhering to guidelines for the 
proper usage of chemicals.

During the Reporting Period, the Group’s common use of 
cleaning chemicals was as follows:

Indicators
Units Year 2024 Year 2023

     

Total bleach use litres 198,865.80 180,952.96

Total bleach use intensity litres/revenue in RMB million 295.25 287.15

Total detergents use litres 23,925.60 32,041.50

Total detergents use intensity litres/revenue in RMB million 35.52 50.85
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The Group has set the following targets of efficiency in use of 
cleaning materials:

• Maintaining the increase in total bleach use intensity from 
Year 2023 to Year 2025 to not more than 10%, with Year 
2022 as the baseline, which was approximately 326.76 
litres per revenue in RMB million; and

• Maintaining the increase in total detergents use intensity 
from Year 2023 to Year 2025 to not more than 10%, with 
Year 2022 as the baseline, which was approximately 
134.87 litres per revenue in RMB million.

In Year 2024, the Group’s total bleach use intensity and total 
detergents use intensity were in line with the targets and the 
Group will strive to continue to maintain the progress. The 
Group actively implements cleaning chemicals saving measures 
and is committed to achieving its targets of cleaning chemicals 
efficiency. The Group provides guidelines to its employees 
so that they understand the reasonable usage of cleaning 
chemicals when providing environmental cleaning and 
maintenance services. In addition, the Group also carries out 
regular inspections to ensure that employees comply with the 
regulations on the use of cleaning chemicals.

Use of Packaging Materials
Due to the nature of the Group’s business, the Group does 
not have any industrial production or manufacturing facilities. 
Therefore, the Group does not consume a substantial amount of 
packaging materials.
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The Environment and Natural Resources
The Group has attached great importance to the potential 
destructive influence of its operations on the environment and 
aims to conduct activities in an environmentally responsible 
and sustainable manner. Although the Group’s operations do 
not pose material and irreversible impacts to the environment 
and natural resources, the Group has established the ESG Policy 
to improve the management in environmental and resource 
aspects continuously, so as to lower the environmental impacts 
of its activities. In the future, the Group will continue to actively 
make its operations more environmentally friendly and take 
effort to accomplish its duties as a member of the community 
through innovation.

Environmental Awareness
Apart from strictly requiring employees to put the environmental 
protection measures formulated by the Group into practice, 
the Group proactively raises environmental awareness among 
its employees. The Group frequently reminds its employees 
to recycle waste, conserve water, and reduce energy usage 
to save natural resources in a long-term basis. There are 
also environmental protection campaigns for employees to 
participate, as well as internal communication channels for 
them to exchange their ideas regarding the environmental 
issues. In addition, the Group has adopted environmental 
management systems and been accredited with ISO 14001 
(environmental management) since 2009. The Group promotes 
environmentally commendable corporate behaviour and strives 
to optimise the use of natural resources, the treatment and 
disposal of waste and the control of energy consumption. The 
Group will continue to review and reduce the impact of its 
daily operations on the environment.
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Climate Change
Climate change creates extensive risks and challenges to the 
global economy, and such hazards may threaten or adversely 
impact the Group’s business. With the expanding threat of 
climate change and related physical change, the market and the 
public’s preference for more environmentally friendly products 
and services are becoming increasingly prominent. In response 
to the community’s gradual concern on climate changes and 
associated issues, the Group has formulated the Climate Change 
Policy to make their impact less severe. The policy indicates 
the Group’s management approach on climate-related issues 
and commitment to the mitigation, adaptation and resilience 
towards climate change across its operations and along the 
value chain.

Physical Risks
For physical risks, extreme weather such as flooding, typhoons 
and extreme heat has become more frequent and severe due to 
climate change. This might lead to adverse effect and disruption 
on the delivery of the services of the Group, particularly the 
provision of services at outdoor locations, as well as subsequent 
increase in the cleaning service workload. In addition, extreme 
weather events may directly or indirectly affect multiple entities 
within the supply chain network such as physical infrastructure 
and assets, natural resources and workforce, and its ripple effect 
can lead to risk propagation along the supply chain network. 
Therefore, climate change can cause a reduction in the Group’s 
production and thus hamper the Group’s operations.

The Group has taken different actions to manage the above-
mentioned acute physical risks. For example, the Group has 
business continuity measures stipulated in our ESG policy, 
which outlines the mitigation measures of enabling our key 
operation to be resumed under such extreme weather events. 
For the extreme heat circumstances, the Group has adopted 
occupational health and safety guidelines, work arrangement 
plan which is in line with the requirements stipulated under the 
High Temperature Labour Protection Measures of Guangdong 
Province ( ), respective protection 
measures and high temperature allowance for our operational 
employees. Regular training is also provided to operational 
employees to ensure their occupational safety. The Group 
believes that the potential financial impacts can be minimised 
with adequate preparations for extreme weather events.
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Transition Risks
For transition risks, the Group foresees the change in our 
customers’ preference in terms of increasing demand of 
environmental and social risk assessment on their suppliers 
and more stringent requirements on environmentally friendly 
services. Furthermore, the implementation of strict fuel 
economy and emissions standards by the PRC government in 
the medium and long term may raise the leasing and purchase 
costs of machinery, equipment and vehicles, which may 
adversely impact on the financial performance of the Group. 
The Group continues to monitor the regulatory environment to 
ensure that the services of the Group meet the demands and 
expectations of our customers and regulatory authorities.

The Group will continue to assess the effectiveness of its actions 
on climate change and enhance its resilience against climate-
related issues.

B. SOCIAL
Employment
Employment Practices
The Group considers its employees to be its most valuable 
asset and takes effort to recruit and retain the best talent for its 
sustainable growth. The Group has established a fair labour 
practices policy to ensure that employees are treated fairly and 
equally in the long-term basis regarding recruitment, training 
and development, appraisal, promotions, compensation and 
benefits. Regular discussion with employees on how they are 
meeting their targets and refresher training are also provided.

In Year 2024, the Group did not experience any work 
suspension or interruptions towards its operations as a result 
of labour strikes or disputes, nor did the Group face any 
challenges in the recruitment process or retention of skilled 
employees. In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any 
material non-compliance relevant laws and regulations that 
have a significant impact on itself relating to compensation 
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest 
periods, equal opportunity, diversity, anti-discrimination, and 
other benefits and welfare. The relevant laws and regulations 
include, but are not limited to, the PRC Labour Law (

), the PRC Labour Contract Law (
) and the PRC Social Insurance Law (

.
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8,160
As of 31 December 2024, the Group had a total of 8,160 
employees. The employees’ composi t ion by gender, 
employment type, age group and geographical region is as 
follows:

Indicator
Unit

As of 
31 December 2024

    

Total number of employees Number 8,160

By gender
Female number 6,066

Male number 2,094

By employment type
Full-time number 8,160

Part-time number 0

By age group
18–35 years old 18 35 number 162

36–49 years old 36 49 number 338

Over 50 years old 50 number 7,660

By geographical region
The PRC number 8,160

    



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 79

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND 
GOVERNANCE REPORT (continued)

• 

• 

Recruitment, Compensation, Promotion and Dismissal
The Group is committed to providing a positive work 
environment that values diverse workforce and fosters the 
achievement of business goals through implementing the fair 
labour practices policy and relevant measures. The Group’s 
policy aims to provide equal opportunities for employees 
regardless of gender, age, race or any other social or personal 
characteristics. The measures taken by the Group include but 
are not limited to:

• Adopting fair labour practices among the workforce and 
prohibiting discrimination against individuals; and

• Establishing communication channels such as opinion 
collection box and email.

The Group enters into labour contracts when it establishes 
labour relationships with the employees, so as to ensure that 
the interest of the employees is protected. The employment 
relationship will be confirmed by signing a labour contract after 
both the employee and the Group have clarified their rights 
and obligations and agreed to the written employment terms. 
The Group abides by local laws and regulations regarding 
employment practices such as compensation, rest periods and 
working hours.

Either employees or the Group can propose to terminate the 
labour contract in accordance with the provisions of the labour 
contract and the specific notice period. The Human Resources 
Department conducts voluntary exit interviews with resigning 
employees to understand their reasons for resigning.
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106.67%

1. 

100%

2. 

3. 

100%

In Year 2024, the Group recorded a turnover rate of employees 
of approximately 106.67%. The turnover rate of employees by 
gender, age group and geographical region is as follows:

Indicator
Unit Year 2024

    

Turnover rate of employees1, 2 1, 2 % 51.61

By gender
Female % 51.67
Male % 51.44

By age group
18–35 years old 18 35 % 25.00
36–49 years old 36 49 % 36.23
Over 50 years old 50 % 52.47

By geographical region
The PRC % 106.65    

Notes

1. The calculation method is enhanced to provide meaningful 
data. The calculation method of the overall turnover rate: the 
total number of departures in the year  (the total number of 
employees at the end of the year  the total number of departure 
in the year)  100%;

2. Since the Group hires employees on a project basis, employees 
will leave the Group when the project ended; and

3. The calculation method of the employee turnover rate by 
category: (the number of departures in the category in the year  
the total number of employees in the category at the end of the 
year)  100%.
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Equal Opportunity, Diversity and Anti-discrimination
Creating a working environment without discrimination and 
harassment is the responsibility of every employee and one of 
the major objectives of the Group. The Group recognises the 
value of diversity and strives to provide equal opportunities in 
all aspects of employment for all employees and candidates, 
including recruitment, hiring, job assignments, promotions, 
working conditions, scheduling, benefits, salary, disciplinary 
action, termination, and social, educational and recreational 
programmes. All employees are assessed based on their 
ability, job performance and contribution. The Group does 
not tolerate any forms of discrimination with regard to gender, 
race, nationality, marital status, disability, religious belief, 
sexual orientation or any other characteristics as recognised 
by relevant anti-discriminatory regulations. The Group also 
forbids discrimination or harassment in the workplace, whether 
committed by or against employees and workers in the supply 
chain, operational communities and other stakeholders, in order 
to protect their legitimate rights and interests. The Group will 
examine any claims of discrimination or harassment promptly, 
and strive to eliminate improper behaviour.

The Group is committed to complying with all applicable laws 
providing equal employment opportunities. This commitment 
applies to all individuals involved in the Group’s operations. 
The Group will make reasonable accommodations for the 
known physical or mental limitations of a qualified individual 
or employee with disabilities unless undue hardship would 
result.

Health and Safety
The Group is commit ted to achieving excel lence in 
occupational health and safety management through a dynamic 
process and continually strives to improve its performance. 
The Group believes health and safety is the foundation for 
continuous improvement in its facilities, products and services. 
The Group has developed and adopted the occupational health 
and safety standards system to provide its employees with a safe 
and healthy working environment that has zero tolerance for 
unsafe acts or conditions.
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4,140

1 4 5

1 0.02% 0.06%
0.06%

1. 
100%

In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material 
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on itself relating to providing a safe working 
environment and protecting employees from occupational 
hazards. The relevant laws and regulations include, but are not 
limited to, the Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Treatment 
of Occupational Diseases ( ) 
and the Fire Protection Law of the PRC (

).

The Group complies with all health and safety laws as 
mandated by government agencies applicable to its business. 
Employees have the duty to comply with the health and 
safety standards that are established by the Group for the 
protection of employees and to work as safely as possible. The 
Group provides the workers with work safety training where 
appropriate.

In Year 2024, the lost days due to work injury was 4,140. 
Employees must report any dangerous or potentially dangerous 
situations to their superiors. During Year 2022, Year 2023 and 
Year 2024, the number of work-related fatalities are 1, 4 and 5 
respectively. Meanwhile, in Year 2022, Year 2023 and Year 
2024, the rate of work-related fatalities1 are 0.02%, 0.06% and 
0.06% respectively. The work-related fatalities of the Group 
occurred in the past three years were caused by traffic 
accidents, sudden illnesses and workplace accidents. The 
Group actively handles the aftermath for each accident, 
including reporting the incident to relevant departments, 
assisting employees’ families to handle work-related death 
recognition procedures, as well as applying for social security 
fund compensation for work-related fatalities. In order to 
minimise the occurrence of accidents, the Group regularly 
conducts safety hazard inspections, promptly rectifies safety 
loopholes and eliminates safety risks. In addition, the Group 
advocates the concept of safety first and is committed to 
improving the safety awareness of employees.

Note

1. The calculation method of the rate of work-related fatalities: (the 
number of work-related fatalities in the year  the total number of 
employees at the end of the year)  100%.
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Measures on Occupational Health and Safety
As the majority of the Group’s employees are retired persons, 
the occupational health and safety of the employees is of 
paramount importance. To protect employees’ occupational 
health and safety, the Group has implemented the health 
and safety standards system and relevant measures. The 
management department is responsible for managing the 
occupational health and safety standards system to reduce 
the risk of workplace accidents. The occupational health and 
safety standards system meets ISO45001 standards and includes 
features such as the provision of protective gears, safety-
awareness education, safety signs and symbols, occupational 
safety and health training, emergency response and rescue 
training, implementation of safety officers’ supervision and the 
adoption of a major incidents reporting system. The measures 
taken by the Group include but are not limited to:

• Providing employees with appropriate personal protective 
equipment during the provis ion of cleaning and 
maintenance services;

• Allocating on-spot emergency treatment materials; and

• Requiring employees to comply with occupational health 
and safety guidelines which cover machinery operation, 
chemical handling, use of electrical appliances, carrying 
heavy objects and working at height.

The Human Resources Department regularly monitors the 
changes in regulations and best practices to ensure that the 
Group’s occupational health and safety standard system 
continues to be effective. All employees of the Group may, from 
time to time, raise any occupational health and safety related 
issues through various channels.
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Development and Training
The Group adopts a philosophy of continuous improvement 
and endeavours to keep its technical professionals abreast 
of the latest technology developments. To always stay at the 
technological forefront in an ever-changing market, the Group 
encourages employees to continuously improve and further 
develop their skill sets.

Training Programmes
The Group has established a training management system 
to provide corresponding specialised training plans based 
on the needs and requirements of different employees. The 
Group regularly provides or arranges training programmes 
for employees, including topics on environmental protection, 
service quality, occupational safety and health, emergency 
and rescue, specialised cleaning skills and management skills, 
to ensure that the Group’s employees understand the latest 
developments in the industry in which the Group operates.

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee 
category is as follows:

Indicators
Unit Year 2024

    

By gender1 1

Percentage of female employees trained % 100.00
Percentage of male employees trained % 100.00

By employee category1 1

Percentage of senior management trained % 100.00
Percentage of middle management trained % 100.00
Percentage of general employees trained % 100.00    

Note

1. The calculation method of the percentage of employees trained 
by category in the year: (the number of employees trained in the 
category in the year  the number of employees in the category 
at the end of the year)  100%.
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The average training hours per employee by gender and 
employee category are set out below:

Indicators
Unit Year 2024

    

By gender1 1

Average training hours per female employee hour 3.07

Average training hours per male employee hour 3.11

By employee category1 1

Average training hours per senior management  hour 3.00

Average training hours per middle management  hour 3.81

Average training hours per general employee hour 3.00

    

Note

1. The calculation method of the average training hours per 
employee by category in the year: the training hours of employees 
in the category in the year  the number of employees in the 
category at the end of the year.

Labour Standards
The Group strictly prohibits human rights abuses over the 
entire business operations. In Year 2024, the Group was not 
aware of any material non-compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that has a significant impact on itself relating to 
the prevention of child and forced labour. The relevant laws 
and regulations include, but are not limited to, Labour Law of 
the People’s Republic of China, Labour Contract Law of the 
People’s Republic of China and Provisions on the Prohibition of 
Using Child Labour of People’s Republic of China.
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Prevention of Child and Forced Labour
To avoid child labour, the Human Resources Department 
is responsible for checking the applicants’ identification 
documents and other supporting documents such as academic 
certificates and reference letters from previous employers. All of 
the Group’s employees must have reached the statutory age and 
possess identification documents before the commencement of 
work. To avoid forced labour, the Group encourages employees 
to complete their work duties within the working hours and 
discourages overtime work unless it is necessary. The Group 
also prohibits any punitive measures, management methods, 
and behaviours including, but not limited to, verbal abuse, 
physical punishment, violence, mental oppression, or sexual 
harassment against its employees for any reason.

In case child labour or forced labour is discovered as a result of 
a breach of the recruitment procedures and requirements, the 
Group will immediately stop the work of the respective child 
labour or forced labour and provide the necessary assistance for 
the affected individuals.

Supply Chain Management
Building trust in the relationship between the Group and its 
suppliers (including subcontractors of the Group) helps the 
Group manage its potential environmental and social risk 
while enhancing the efficiency of its operations. The Group has 
established a strict procurement management system to ensure 
fairness and transparency in the procurement process and to 
obtain high-quality consumables and services. The Group 
also regularly reviews the procurement management system 
to ensure its effectiveness and efficiency. In Year 2024, the 
Group implemented supplier practices to all suppliers, so as 
to evaluate their supplier qualifications. During the Reporting 
Period, the Group had a total of 671 suppliers, of which all of 
them are located in the PRC.
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Procurement Mechanism
The Group is very cautious when selecting suppliers and 
generally selects suppliers of consumables and services based 
on various factors, including their background, quality and price 
of consumables and services, supply capacity, delivery time, 
reputation and track record. Regarding the quality of purchased 
consumables, the Group will check upon delivery whether 
the consumables comply with the Group’s specifications and 
whether there are any defects that require return. The Group 
reviews the qualified suppliers list on an annual basis with a 
view to getting the best commercial terms on its future orders.

Environmental and Social Risk Management
The Group strives to minimise the environmental and social 
risks along its supply chain. The Group performs close 
monitoring on the suppliers’ or subcontractors’ business 
practices. The Group reviews its supply chain periodically with 
regard to the suppliers’ performance and environmental and 
social standards. While the Group continuously evaluates the 
environmental and social performance of its suppliers, it may 
terminate contracts if the suppliers refuse to comply with the 
relevant environmental and social laws and regulations. The 
senior management of the Group regularly monitors changes 
in supply chain management best practices to ensure that the 
Group’s environmental and social risk management practices 
continue to be effective.

Promoting Environmentally Preferable Products and Services
The Group gives priority to suppliers who have established a 
sound environmental management system such as suppliers 
who have obtained environmental certificates. While the Group 
continuously evaluates the environmental performance of its 
suppliers, it may terminate contracts if the suppliers refuse to 
address situations that seriously harm the environment. The 
senior management of the Group regularly monitors changes in 
best practices for promoting environmentally friendly products 
and services in the supplier selection process to ensure that the 
Group’s regular works in promoting environmentally friendly 
products and services remains effective.
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Service Responsibility
We believe that the quality, consistency and reliability of 
its products are essential to maintain customer loyalty and 
to uphold its reputation which contribute to its success and 
business expansion.

In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material 
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations that has 
a significant impact on itself relating to health and safety, 
advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to products 
and services provided and methods of rectification. The relevant 
laws and regulations include, but are not limited to, Advertising 
Law of the People’s Republic of China, Law of the People’s 
Republic of China on the Protection of Consumer Rights and 
Interests and Patent Law of the People’s Republic of China.

Quality Assurance
The Group takes pride in the quality of its services and therefore 
it puts strong emphasis on it. The Group believes that a stringent 
quality control over its services is crucial to its continued 
success. The Group has developed and adopted a strict quality 
management system and has obtained ISO 9001 certification 
since 2009.

The Group’s quality control team is responsible for overseeing 
the quality control of the Group’s consumables and services. 
Besides, stringent quality control systems and procedures are 
implemented, including the following:

• Overall quality management: The management department 
is responsible for the overall quality management of the 
operation and implementation of the quality management 
system. Internal audits of the quality management system 
are conducted annually to review and assess compliance 
with ISO 9001 requirements.

• Project-specific quality management: The Regional 
Deputy General Manager is responsible for project-specific 
quality management, including the implementation of 
work plans customised for the project, in particular, the 
compliance with any standards specified by the client and 
monitoring of project service quality.

ISO 9001

• 

ISO 9001

• 
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• Periodic Inspections: The Inspection Officer is responsible 
for conducting periodic inspections and preparing 
inspection reports detailing findings for follow-up.

• Procuring consumables and services: The Group is very 
cautious when selecting suppliers and generally selects 
suppliers of consumables and services based on various 
factors, including their background, quality and price 
of consumables and services, supply capacity, delivery 
time, reputation and their track record. Regarding the 
quality of purchased consumables, the Group will check 
upon delivery whether the consumables comply with the 
Group’s specifications and whether there are any defects 
that require return.

• Customer relationship and complaint management 
p rocedure s :  The  G roup  ma in t a i n s  con t i nuous 
communication with customers or their agents to keep 
them informed of project status and handle complaints and 
feedback.

As the Group’s  bus iness  i s  main ly the prov i s ion o f 
environmental cleaning and maintenance services and it is not 
engaged in the sale of any tangible products, product recalls 
and any related disclosures are not applicable. During the 
Reporting Period, the Group did not receive any complaints 
relating to unanticipated abnormalities of the Group’s service. 
If there are any issues regarding the quality of the Group’s 
products, the personnel of the Group will understand the needs 
of the customers and actively assist the customers to resolve the 
issues.

• 

• 

• 
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Privacy and Data Security
Employees are required to follow and comply with the 
requirements on consumer information protection. Employees 
are prohibited from copying, transferring and disclosing the 
confidential information, such as clients’ information and 
intellectual property information without prior consent from 
the management or customers. Employees are restricted from 
disclosing sensitive information to external parties. In case 
of breaching confidentiality, the Group will take corrective 
actions promptly and the employees involved may be subject 
to warnings or dismissal. The Group has separated customer 
data from other ordinary information to protect their privacy. 
Meanwhile, the Group regulates that only authorised personnel 
can access the personal data collected from the Group’s 
customers. The management team regularly reviews the 
effectiveness of the requirements on consumer information 
protection of the Group to meet the Group’s privacy and data 
protection obligations.

Intellectual Property Rights
To protect the Group’s intellectual property rights, the Group 
has registered its patents, registered copyrights and trademarks 
in China. The Group will continue to monitor to ensure that its 
intellectual property rights are not being infringed upon and it 
does not infringe others’ intellectual property rights.

Advertising and Labelling
The Group’s global sales and marketing department is 
responsible for the Group’s sales and marketing activities and is 
led by the Group’s management. The Group’s management is 
responsible for formulating the overall sales strategies, collecting 
and analysing market data, negotiating and management 
of the Group’s marketing activities and determining the 
price of products. In terms of the advertisement for products 
and services, the Group strictly regulates and monitors the 
promotion activities of its products and services to ensure that 
they comply with advertising and labelling related laws and 
regulations. Such marketing and promotion must accurately 
reflect the performance of the Group’s services.
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Anti-corruption
In order to earn the trust of customers, government authorities, 
shareholders and society, the Group is dependent upon 
professionalism, expertise and high ethical standards in all 
aspects of the Group’s work. The Group supports a culture 
of integrity, ethical conduct, fairness, honesty and openness 
when doing business, and adopts a zero-tolerance attitude 
towards any bribery, fraud and money laundering. The Group is 
committed to ensuring that no bribes, kickbacks or similar gifts, 
payments and advantages are solicited from or given or offered 
to any person, for any purposes. Thus, the Group has set up 
the Anticorruption and Anti-bribery Management System and 
the Anti-Money Laundering Management System to ensure its 
Directors and employees comply with anti-corruption laws of 
the countries in which it operates, as well as with the Group’s 
values and principles.

In Year 2024, the Group was not aware of any material 
noncompliance with relevant laws and regulations that have a 
significant impact on itself relating to bribery, extortion, fraud 
and money laundering. The relevant laws and regulations 
include, but are not limited to, Criminal Law of the People’s 
Republic of China and Anti-Unfair Competition Law of the 
People’s Republic of China. During the Reporting Period, 
there was no concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices 
brought against the Group or its employees.

Preventive Measures
The Group provides anti-fraud and ethics training, which covers 
legal knowledge on anti-corruption and integrity behaviour in 
the workplace, to the Group’s employees and Directors at least 
once every year. Anti-corruption training can help cultivate 
employees’ awareness of anti-corruption and a high standard 
of professional conduct to comply with the relevant laws and 
regulations. During the Reporting Period, the Group provided 
approximately 10 hours and 25,161 hours of anti-corruption and 
professional ethics training to 5 directors and 8,160 employees 
respectively. The Group has established anti-corruption and 
anti-bribery policies to prohibit any form of bribery, extortion, 
fraud or money laundering. The Group also distributes its anti-
corruption and anti-bribery policies to all employees to ensure 
that all employees are aware of the Group’s requirements. The 
Group’s senior management regularly monitors changes in 
regulations and best practices to ensure that the anti-corruption 
and anti-bribery policies continue to be effective.

5
8,160 10

25,161
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150,000

Whistle-blowing Procedures
The Group has set up guidelines on whistle-blowing procedures 
to enable all individuals and stakeholders to voice concerns 
in a responsible and effective manner in situations they 
believe showing irregularities, misconduct or malpractice. 
The Group’s management would investigate every single 
possible misconduct case and carry out follow-up actions if 
necessary. For any individuals being ascertained to be involved 
in the misconduct, depending on the seriousness, they may 
face termination of employment or be reported to local legal 
authorities. The use and effectiveness of the whistle-blowing 
procedures will be monitored and reviewed regularly by the 
relevant personnel.

Community Investment
The Group is committed to emboldening and supporting the 
public by various means of social participation and contribution 
as part of its community investment. Therefore, the Group 
encourages its employees to engage in community services 
and voluntary activities. To fulfil the Group’s corporate social 
responsibility, the Group has formulated environmental, social 
and governance policies and is committed to participating 
in different social welfare undertakings. The Group’s focus 
areas include education and healthcare. In Year 2024, the 
Group donated RMB150,000 to support different charitable 
organisations, healthcare centres and schools to enhance 
people’s living quality and raise social cohesion.

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF 
THE STOCK EXCHANGE

Mandatory Disclosure Requirements Sections

  

Governance Structure BOARD STATEMENT; GOVERNANCE FOR SUSTAINABILITY

Reporting Principles ABOUT THIS REPORT – Reporting Framework; STAKEHOLDER 
ENGAGEMENT; MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

–

Reporting Boundary ABOUT THIS REPORT – Reporting Scope
–
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(2)

THE ESG REPORTING GUIDE CONTENT INDEX OF 
THE STOCK EXCHANGE(2)

Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect A1: Emissions
A1

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

r e l a t i ng  t o  a i r  and g reenhouse  ga s 
emissions, discharges into water and land, 
and generation.

(a) 

(b) 

Emissions
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

KPI A1.1
A1.1

The types of emiss ions and respect ive 
emissions data.

Emissions – Air Pollutants Emissions
–

KPI A1.2
A1.2

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 
2) greenhouse gas emissions (in tonnes) and, 
where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

1 2

Emissions – GHG Emissions
–

KPI A1.3
A1.3

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) 
and, where appropriate, intensity (e.g. per 
unit of production volume, per facility).

Emissions – Waste Management – 
Hazardous Waste

– –

KPI A1.4
A1.4

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in 
tonnes) and, where appropriate, intensity 
(e.g. per unit of production volume, per 
facility).

Emissions – Waste Management – Non-
hazardous Waste

– –

KPI A1.5
A1.5

Description of emissions target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Emissions – GHG Emissions
–

KPI A1.6
A1.6

D e s c r i p t i o n  o f  h o w  h a z a r d o u s  a n d 
nonhazardous wastes are handled, and a 
description of reduction target(s) set and 
steps taken to achieve them.

Emissions – Waste Management
–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect A2: Use of Resources
A2

General Disclosure Policies on the efficient use of resources, 
including energy, water and other raw 
materials.

Use of Resources

KPI A2.1
A2.1

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption 
by type (e.g. electricity, gas or oil) in total 
(kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g. per unit of 
production volume, per facility).

Use of Resources – Energy Management
–

KPI A2.2
A2.2

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. 
per unit of production volume, per facility).

Use of Resources – Water Management
–

KPI A2.3
A2.3

Description of energy use efficiency target(s) 
set and steps taken to achieve them.

Use of Resources – Energy Management
–

KPI A2.4
A2.4

Description of whether there is any issue in 
sourcing water that is fit for purpose, water 
efficiency target(s) set and steps taken to 
achieve them.

Use of Resources – Water Management
–

KPI A2.5
A2.5

Total packaging material used for finished 
products (in tonnes) and, if applicable, with 
reference to per unit produced.

Use of Resources – Use of Packaging 
Materials (Not applicable and explained)

–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3

General Disclosure Policies on minimizing the issuer’s significant 
impacts on the environment and natural 
resources.

The Environment and Natural Resources

KPI A3.1
A3.1

Description of the significant impacts of 
activities on the environment and natural 
resources and the actions taken to manage 
them.

The Environment and Natural Resources – 
Environmental Awareness

–

The Environment and Natural Resources – Environmental Awareness
–

General Disclosure Policies on identification and mitigation of 
significant climate-related issues which have 
impacted, and those which may impact, the 
issuer.

Climate Change

KPI A4.1
A4.1

Descript ion of the s igni f icant cl imate-
related issues which have impacted, and 
those which may impact, the issuer, and the 
actions taken to manage them.

Climate Change – Physical Risks; Climate 
Change –Transition Risks

– –
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect B1: Employment
B1

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

relating to compensation and dismissal, 
recruitment and promotion, working hours, 
rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and 
welfare.

(a) 

(b) 

Employment – Employment Practices
–

KPI B1.1
B1.1

Total workforce by gender, employment type 
(for example, full-or part-time), age group 
and geographical region.

Employment – Employment Practices
–

KPI B1.2
B1.2

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group 
and geographical region.

Employment – Recruitment, Compensation, 
Promotion and Dismissal

–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect B2: Health and Safety
B2

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

r e l a t i ng  t o  p rov id ing  a  s a f e  work ing 
environment and protecting employees from 
occupational hazards.

(a) 

(b) 

Health and Safety

KPI B2.1
B2.1

Number and rate of work-related fatalities 
occurred in each of the past three years 
including the reporting year.

Health and Safety

KPI B2.2
B2.2

Lost days due to work injury. Health and Safety

KPI B2.3
B2.3

Description of occupational health and 
safety measures adopted, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Health and Safety – Measures on 
Occupational Health and Safety

–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect B3: Development and Training
B3

General Disclosure Policies on improving employees’ knowledge 
and skills for discharging duties at work. 
Description of training activities.

Development and Training

KPI B3.1
B3.1

The percentage of employees trained by 
gender and employee category (e.g. senior 
management, middle management).

Development and Training –Training 
Programmes

–

KPI B3.2
B3.2

The average training hours completed per 
employee by gender and employee category.

Development and Training –Training 
Programmes

–

Aspect B4: Labour Standards
B4

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

relating to preventing child and forced 
labour.

(a) 

(b) 

Labour Standards
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

KPI B4.1
B4.1

D e s c r i p t i o n  o f  m e a s u r e s  t o  r e v i e w 
employment practices to avoid child and 
forced labour.

Labour Standards – Prevention of Child and 
Forced Labour

–

KPI B4.2
B4.2

Description of steps taken to eliminate such 
practices when discovered.

Labour Standards – Prevention of Child and 
Forced Labour

–

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management
B5

General Disclosure Policies on managing environmental and 
social risks of the supply chain.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.1
B5.1

Number of suppliers by geographical region. Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.2
B5.2

Description of practices relating to engaging 
suppliers, number of suppliers where the 
practices are being implemented, and how 
they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management

KPI B5.3
B5.3

Description of practices used to identify 
environmental and social risks along the 
supply chain, and how they are implemented 
and monitored.

Supply Chain Management –Environmental 
and Social Risk Management

–

KPI B5.4
B5.4

Description of practices used to promote 
environmentally preferable products and 
services when selecting suppliers, and how 
they are implemented and monitored.

Supply Chain Management –Promoting 
Environmentally Preferable Products and 
Services

–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility
B6

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

relating to health and safety, advertising, 
labelling and privacy matters relating to 
products and services provided and methods 
of redress.

(a) 

(b) 

Service Responsibility

KPI B6.1
B6.1

Percentage of total products sold or shipped 
subject to recalls for safety and health 
reasons.

Product Responsibility – Quality Assurance 
(Not applicable and explained)

–

KPI B6.2
B6.2

Number of products and service related 
complaints received and how they are dealt 
with.

Product Responsibility – Quality Assurance
–
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

KPI B6.3
B6.3

Description of practices relating to observing 
and protecting intellectual property rights.

Product Responsibility – Intellectual 
Property Rights

–

KPI B6.4
B6.4

Description of quality assurance process and 
recall procedures.

Product Responsibility – Quality Assurance 
(Not applicable and explained)

–

KPI B6.5
B6.5

Description of consumer data protection 
and privacy policies, and how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Product Responsibility – Privacy and Data 
Security

–

Aspect B7: Anti-corruption
B7

General Disclosure Information on:

(a) the policies; and

(b) compliance with relevant laws and 
regulations that have a signif icant 
impact on the issuer

relating to bribery, extortion, fraud and 
money laundering.

(a) 

(b) 

Anti-corruption
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Subject Areas, Aspects,
General Disclosures
and KPIs

Descriptions Sections/Declarations

KPI B7.1
B7.1

Number of concluded legal cases regarding 
corrupt practices brought against the issuer 
or its employees during the reporting period 
and the outcomes of the cases.

Anti-corruption

KPI B7.2
B7.2

Description of preventive measures and 
whistleblowing procedures, how they are 
implemented and monitored.

Anti-corruption – Preventive Measures;
Anti-corruption – Whistle-blowing 
Procedures

– –

KPI B7.3
B7.3

Description of anti-corruption training 
provided to directors and staff.

Anti-corruption – Preventive Measures
–

Aspect B8: Community Investment
B8

General Disclosure Policies on community engagement to 
understand the needs of the communities 
where the issuer operates and to ensure 
its activities take into consideration the 
communities’ interests.

Community Investment

KPI B8.1
B8.1

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, 
environmental concerns, labour needs, 
health, culture, sport).

Community Investment

KPI B8.2
B8.2

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) 
to the focus area.

Community Investment
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To the shareholders of Shenghui Cleanness Group Holdings Limited
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Shenghui 
Cleanness Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 
111 to 193, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial 
position as at 31 December 2024, the consolidated statement of 
profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the consolidated 
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of 
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 
financial statements, including material accounting policy 
information and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and 
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31 
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and 
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance 
with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the Hong Kong Institute 
of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly 
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the 
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION
We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on 
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under 
those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities 
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our 
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the 
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

111 193
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS
Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional 
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current period. These matters were 
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we 
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

  

Revenue recognition

Refer to Note 5 to the consolidated financial statements.
5

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Group’s revenue 
as derived from the provision of cleaning and maintenance 
services amounted to approximately RMB673,558,000 
which were recognised over time when the related services 
were rendered. 

 
673,558,000

We identified revenue recognition from cleaning and 
maintenance services as a key audit matter due to the 
large volume of the revenue transactions and number of 
customers involved, and therefore significant effort was 
spent on auditing this area.

Our procedures in relation to revenue recognition of the 
Group included: 

 

– Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s revenue 
recognition process, evaluated management’s key 
controls over revenue recognition and validating these 
key controls on a sample basis;

–  

– Evaluating the appropriateness of the Group’s 
revenue recognition policies in accordance with 
the requirement of prevailing applicable accounting 
standards; and

–  

– Testing revenue recognised during the year, on 
a sample basis, by tracing to relevant underlying 
supporting documents, including service contracts, 
records of customer’s acceptance on service delivered 
and service invoices, where applicable. 

– 
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

  

Impairment assessment of trade receivables

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s gross carrying 
amount of trade receivables amounting to approximately 
RMB292,599,000, which represented 51.3% of total assets 
of the Group. Loss allowances for expected credit losses 
(“ECL”) amounting to approximately RMB24,525,000 has 
been provided on these trade receivables.

292,599,000  
51.3%

24,525,000

Significant degree of estimation was involved in evaluating 
the ECL of the Group’s trade receivables. Management 
of the Group estimates the amount of lifetime ECL on (i) 
credit impaired trade receivables individually; and (ii) 
remaining trade receivables based on a provision matrix 
through grouping of various debtors that have similar loss 
patterns, after considering the past due status of respective 
trade receivables, historical default rates and adjusting for 
forward-looking information.

 
 (i)

(ii)

Our procedures in relation to impairment assessment of 
trade receivables included:

• Understanding key controls on how the management 
estimates the loss allowances for trade receivables;

• Understanding and assessing the appropriateness of 
management’s methodology for identifying credit 
impaired trade receivables;

• Testing the accuracy of trade receivables past due 
ageing analysis, on a sample basis, by comparing 
individual items in the analysis with the relevant sales 
invoices; and

• Evaluating the reasonableness of the credit loss 
allowances on trade receivables with reference to 
historical observed default rate and forward-looking 
information,

KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)
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OTHER MATTERS
The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2023 were audited by another auditor who 
expressed an unqualified opinion on those statements on 28 March 
2024.

OTHER INFORMATION
The directors of the Company are responsible for the other 
information. The other information comprises the information 
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated 
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, 
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with 
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in 
the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based 
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that 
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE 
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE 
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the HKICPA 
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies 
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine 
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are 
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern 
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors 
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have 
no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the 
Group’s financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF 
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether 
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. We report our opinion 
solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not 
assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person 
for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance is a high level 
of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement 
when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, 
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 109

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT(continued)

 

• 

• 

 

 

• 

• 

 

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)
• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used 

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the 
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related 
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw 
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are 
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the 
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, 
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the 
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves 
fair presentation.

• Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient 
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information 
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis for 
forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit 
opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, 
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and 
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during our audit.
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P08079

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT 
OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
(continued)
We also provide those charged with governance with a statement 
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding 
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships 
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our 
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with 
governance, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements 
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We 
describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation 
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences 
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public 
interest benefits of such communication.

CL PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants
Fong Ho Keung
Practising Certificate Number: P08079
Hong Kong, 28 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER 
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 綜合損益及其他全面收益表
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2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Revenue 5 673,558 630,172
Cost of services 6 (572,858) (536,727)     

Gross profit 100,700 93,445

Other income, gains and losses 7 2,433 6,389
Fair value gain on financial assets at fair 

value through profit or loss 37,258 –

Impairment losses on financial assets under 
expected credit loss model, net (10,521) (731)

Selling and marketing expenses 6 (4,023) (5,148)
Administrative and other expenses 6 (68,067) (61,099)
Finance income (expenses), net 9 1,451 (466)     

Profit before income tax 59,231 32,390
Income tax expenses 10 (10,005) (4,501)     

Profit and total comprehensive income for 
the year attributable to owners of the 
Company 49,226 27,889

     

Earnings per share attributable to owners 
of the Company (expressed in RMB 
cents per share)

 

 – Basis and diluted  – 12 3.02 2.18
     



AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION
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2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 13 36,200 15,645
Investment properties 14 905 5,981
Right-of-use assets 15 17,908 –

Financial assets at fair value through  
profit or loss 20 101,160 –

Deferred tax assets 16 6,653 5,075
Deposits and prepayments 18 26,996 13,786     

189,822 40,487     

Current assets
Trade and other receivables and 

prepayments 18 287,969 249,476
Restricted bank deposits 19 1,423 1,817
Cash and cash equivalents 19 91,109 148,573     

380,501 399,866     

Total assets 570,323 440,353
     

Equity
Equity attributable to owners of  

the Company
Share capital 21 15,953 14,726
Reserves 22 368,949 284,092     

Total equity 384,902 298,818
     



AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 於二零二四年十二月三十一日
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION (continued)

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Liabilities
Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 15 14,280 6,234
Deferred tax liabilities 16 6,538 –     

20,818 6,234     

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 23 102,869 113,699
Tax payables 16,265 20,901
Bank borrowings 24 39,714 –

Lease liabilities 15 5,755 701     

164,603 135,301     

Total liabilities 185,421 141,535
     

Total equity and liabilities 570,323 440,353
     

The consolidated financial statement on pages 111 to 193 were 
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 28 
March 2025 and are signed by:

Mr. Li Chenghua Mr. Chen Liming

Director Director

111 193
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
CHANGES IN EQUITY
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Attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital Reserves Total

(Note 22)
22

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

At 1 January 2023 – 177,032 177,032
Issuance of shares (Note 21) 21 14,726 93,656 108,382
Share issuance costs – (14,485) (14,485)
Profit for the year – 27,889 27,889     

Total profit and other comprehensive 
 income for the year  – 27,889 27,889     

Balance at 31 December 2023
 14,726 284,092 298,818     

At 1 January 2024 14,726 284,092 298,818
Issuance of shares (Note 21) 21 1,227 36,192 37,419
Share issuance costs – (561) (561)
Profit for the year – 49,226 49,226     

Total profit and other comprehensive 
 income for the year  – 49,226 49,226     

Balance at 31 December 2024
 15,953 368,949 384,902     



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 截至二零二四年十二月三十一日止年度

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CASH FLOWS 綜合現金流量表
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2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Profit before income tax 59,231 32,390     

Adjustments for
 –  Interest income  –  (2,456) (131)
 –  Interest expenses  –  1,005 597
 – Depreciation of right-of-use assets  –  1,569 –

 –  Depreciation of property, plant and  
 equipment

 –  
5,429 3,306

 –  Depreciation of investment properties  –  212 517
 –  Impairment losses on  

 financial assets, net
 –  

10,521 731
 – Fair value gain on financial assets  
   at fair value through profit or loss

 –   
 (37,258) –

 Changes in working capital  
 –  Increase in trade and other receivables  

 and prepayments
 –   

 (69,474) (23,011)
 –  Decrease in trade and other payables  –  (15,444) (3,630)     

Cash (used in) generated from operations (46,665) 10,769
Income tax refund 982 –
Income tax paid (7,415) (3,897)     

Net cash (used in) generated  
 from operating activities (53,098) 6,872     

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of financial assets at fair value 
 through profit or loss  (63,902) –
Purchase of property, plant and 
 equipment (18,716) (4,480)
Interest income received 2,456 131
Decrease (increase) in restricted 
 bank deposits 394 (37)
Increase in prepayment for acquisition of 
 plant and equipment  – (7,250)
Disposal of property, plant and equipment – 6     

Net cash used in investing activities (79,768) (11,630)
     



FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
CASH FLOWS (continued)

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from bank borrowings 97,104 9,472
Proceeds from issuance of shares 21 37,419 108,382
Advances from Controlling Shareholders 4,614 13,881
Repayments of bank borrowings (57,390) (9,472)
Repayments to Controlling Shareholders – (11,515)
Listing expenses paid (3,252) (11,277)
Principal repayments of lease liabilities (1,515) (265)
Transaction costs attributable to issue 
 of shares 21 (561) –
Interest payments of lease liabilities (517) (412)
Bank borrowings interest paid (488) (185)     

Net cash from financing activities 75,414 98,609     

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash 
equivalents

 
 (57,452) 93,851

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning 
 of the year 148,573 54,722
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes,  
 net (12) –     

Cash and cash equivalents at end of 
 the year 91,109 148,573
     



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 綜合財務報表附註
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION
Shenghui Cleanness Group Holdings Limited (the “Company”) 
was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 January 2021 
as an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Act (Cap. 22, Act 3 of 1961, as consolidated and 
revised) of the Cayman Islands. The Company’s shares were 
listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong 
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) on 5 December 2023. The 
address of the Company’s registered office is at the office of 
Conyers Trust Company (Cayman) Limited, Cricket Square, 
Hutchins Drive, PO Box 2681, Grand Cayman, KY1–1111, 
Cayman Islands. The principal place of business of the 
Company in Hong Kong is 15th Floor, YF Life Centre, No. 38 
Gloucester Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

The Company is an investment holding company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”) are principally engaged 
in the provision of cleaning and maintenance services in 
the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”). The controlling 
shareholders of the Company are Mr. Li Chenghua (“Mr. 
Li”) and Mr. Chen Liming (“Mr. Chen”) (the “Controlling 
Shareholders”). 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in 
Renminbi (“RMB”) which is also the functional currency of the 
Company.

1 

22 3

Conyers Trust 
Company (Cayman) Limited

Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO Box 
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman 
Islands

38 15
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

2 

16

1  

5

1  

7
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS
Amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that are 
mandatorily effective for the current year
In the current year, the Group has applied the following 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards issued by the 
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) 
for the first time, which are mandatorily effective for the 
Group’s annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the 
preparation of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and 
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as 
Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong 
Kong Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with 
Covenants

Amendments to HKAS 7 and 
HKFRS 7

Supplier Finance Arrangements

The application of the amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in the current year has had no material impact on 
the Group’s financial positions and performance for the current 
and prior years and/or on the disclosures set out in these 
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(continued)
New and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards in issue but not yet effective
The Group has not early applied the following new and 
amendments to HKFRS Accounting Standards that have been 
issued but are not yet effective:

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Amendments to the Classification 
and Measurement of Financial 
Instruments3

Amendments to HKFRS 9 
and HKFRS 7

Contracts Referencing Nature – 
Dependent Electricity3

Amendments to HKFRS 10 
and HKAS 28

Sale or Contribution of Assets 
between an Investor and its 
Associate or Joint Venture1

Amendments to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS 
Accounting Standards – 
Volume 113

Amendments to HKAS 21 Lack of Exchangeability2

HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in 
Financial Statements4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be 
determined.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025.

3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026.

4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027.

Except for the new and amendments to HKFRS Accounting 
Standards mentioned below, the directors of the Company 
anticipate that the application of all other new and amendments 
to HKFRS Accounting Standards will have no material impact 
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable 
future.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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2 APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 
TO HKFRS ACCOUNTING STANDARDS 
(continued)
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial 
Statements
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements, 
which sets out requirements on presentation and disclosures 
in financial statements, will replace HKAS 1 Presentation of 
Financial Statements. This new HKFRS Accounting Standard, 
while carrying forward many of the requirements in HKAS 1, 
introduces new requirements to present specified categories 
and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss; provide 
disclosures on management-defined performance measures in 
the notes to the financial statements and improve aggregation 
and disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the 
financial statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have 
been moved to HKAS 8 and HKFRS 7. Minor amendments to 
HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and HKAS 33 Earnings per 
Share are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with 
early application permitted. The application of the new standard 
is expected to affect the presentation of the statement of profit 
or loss and disclosures in the future financial statements. The 
Group is in the process of assessing the detailed impact of 
HKFRS 18 on the Group’s consolidated financial statements.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 121

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

3 
 

622

4

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
The material accounting policies applied in preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements have been consistently 
applied by the Group to all the years presented, unless 
otherwise stated.

Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been 
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards 
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the 
Companies Ordinance Cap. 622. The consolidated financial 
statements of the Group have been prepared under the historical 
cost convention.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in 
conformity with HKFRS Accounting Standards requires the 
use of certain critical accounting estimates. It also requires 
management to exercise its judgement in the process of 
applying the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving 
a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are material to the consolidated 
financial statements are disclosed in Note 4.

Principles of consolidation
Subsidiaries
A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over 
which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity 
when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns 
from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries are 
consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to 
the Group. They are deconsolidated from the date that control 
ceases. Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised 
gains on transactions between group companies are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of the transferred asset. 
Accounting policies of subsidiaries have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by 
the Group.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Business combinations
Non-common control business combinations
Acquisitions of businesses are accounted for using the 
acquisition method. The consideration transferred in a business 
combination is measured at fair value, which is calculated 
as the sum of the acquisition-date fair values of the assets 
transferred by the Group, liabilities incurred by the Group 
to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group in exchange for control of the acquiree. 
Acquisition-related costs are generally recognised in profit or 
loss as incurred.

Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent 
liabilities assumed in a business combination are, with limited 
exceptions, measured initially at their fair values at the 
acquisition date. The Group recognises any non-controlling 
interest in the acquired entity on an acquisition-by-acquisition 
basis either at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s 
proportionate share of the acquired entity’s net identifiable 
assets.

Foreign currencies
Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional 
currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the 
transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation at year-end exchange 
rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognised in profit or loss.

Foreign exchange gains and losses, if any, are presented 
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other 
comprehensive income.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 123

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Leases
The group as a lessee
Leases a re recognised as a r igh t-o f-use asse t  and a 
corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is 
available for use by the Group. Assets and liabilities arising 
from a lease are initially measured on a present value basis. 
Lease liabilities include the net present value of the following 
lease payments:

• fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments), 
less any lease incentives receivable;

• variable lease payments that are based on an index or a 
rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the 
commencement date;

• amounts expected to be payable by the Group under 
residual value guarantees;

• the exercise price of a purchase option if the Group is 
reasonably certain to exercise that option; and

• payments of penalties for terminating the lease, if the lease 
term reflects the Group exercising that option.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Leases (continued)
The group as a lessee (continued)
Payments associated with short-term leases are recognised on a 
straight-line basis as an expense in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income. Short-term leases are leases with a 
lease term of 12 months or less.

Lease payments to be made under reasonably certain extension 
options are also included in the measurement of the liability.

The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
which is generally the case for leases in the Group, the lessee’s 
incremental borrowing rate is used, being the rate that the 
individual lessee would have to pay to borrow the funds 
necessary to obtain an asset of similar value to the right-of-use 
asset in a similar economic environment with similar terms, 
security and conditions.

The Group’s right-of-use assets consist of leases for building and 
machinery.

Right-of-use assets resulted from lease payments are stated 
at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any. Cost represents consideration paid for 
the rights to use the assets and other direct related costs from 
the date when the respective rights were granted. Depreciation 
of lease payments is calculated on a straight-line basis over the 
lease terms as stated in the lease contracts and is charged to 
profit or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Leases (continued)
The group as a lessor
When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception 
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as 
either an operating lease or a finance lease. Leases in which the 
Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards 
incidental to ownership of an asset are classified as operating 
leases, otherwise, they are classified as finance leases. 

When a contract contains lease and non-lease components, 
the Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each 
component on a relative standalone selling price basis. Rental 
income is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease 
terms and is included in revenue in profit or loss due to its 
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and 
arranging an operating lease are added to the carrying amount 
of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the 
same basis as rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as 
revenue in the period in which they are earned. 

Lease income from operating leases where the Group acts as 
the lessor is recognised on a straight-line basis over the lease 
term. Initial direct costs incurred in obtaining the operating 
lease are added to the carrying amount of the underlying asset 
and recognised as expenses over the lease term on the same 
basis as lease income. The respective leased assets are included 
in the consolidated statement of financial position based on 
their nature.
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated 
f inancial statement at historical cost less subsequent 
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses, 
if any. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the item.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated with the 
item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be 
measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are charged 
to profit or loss during the financial period in which they are 
incurred.

An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its 
recoverable amount if the asset’s carrying amount is greater 
than its estimated recoverable amount.

Gains and losses on disposal are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount and are recognised in profit 
or loss.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Investment properties
Investment properties are interests in land and/or buildings in 
respect of which construction work and development have 
been completed and which are held for long-term rental yields 
and are not occupied by the Group. Investment properties are 
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost 
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment, if 
any.

The gain or loss on disposal of an investment property is the 
difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying 
amount of the investment properties and is recognised in profit 
or loss.

Impairment of non-financial assets
Assets that have an indefinite useful life or intangible assets 
not ready to use are not subject to amortisation and are tested 
annually for impairment. Assets that are subject to amortisation 
are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be 
recoverable. An impairment loss is recognised in profit or 
loss for the amount by which the carrying amount of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the 
higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in use. 
For the purpose of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash 
flows (cash generating units). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered an impairment are reviewed for possible 
reversal of the impairment at each reporting date.
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(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Financial assets
(i) Classification

The Group classifies its financial assets measured at 
amortised cost or at fair value through profit or loss 
(“FVTPL” ).

(ii) Recognition and derecognition
Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are 
recognised on trade-date, the date on which the Group 
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Financial assets are 
derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows from 
the financial assets have expired or have been transferred 
and the Group has transferred substantially all the risks 
and rewards of ownership.

(iii) Measurement
At initial recognition, the Group measures a financial 
asset at its fair value plus transaction costs that are directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the financial asset.

Debt instruments
Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash 
flows where those cash flows represent solely payments 
of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. 
A gain or loss on a debt investment that is subsequently 
measured at amortised cost and is not part of a hedging 
relationship is recognised in profit or loss when the asset 
is derecognised or impaired. Interest income from these 
financial assets is determined using the effective interest 
rate method.
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(iv) 

9

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Financial assets (continued)
(iv) Impairment

The Group assesses on a forward-looking basis the 
expected credit losses (“ECL”) associated with its debt 
instruments carried at amortised cost. The impairment 
methodology applied depends on whether there has been 
a significant increase in credit risk.

For trade receivables, the Group applies the simplified 
approach permitted by HKFRS 9, which requires expected 
lifetime losses to be recognised from initial recognition of 
the receivables.

Offsetting financial instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount 
is reported in the consolidated statement of financial position 
when there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognised 
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or 
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously. The 
legally enforceable right must not be contingent on future 
events and must be enforceable in the normal course of 
business and in the event of default, insolvency or bankruptcy 
of the company or the counterparty.
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand and at banks, 
deposits held at call with banks, other short-term highly liquid 
investments with original maturities of three months or less.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement
Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition as loans 
and borrowings and payables, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value 
and, in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of 
directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other 
payables and bank borrowings.

Subsequent measurement
The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on 
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
After initial recognition, financial liabilities are subsequently 
measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest rate 
method unless the effect of discounting would be immaterial, 
in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and losses are 
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when 
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the effective 
interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount 
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral 
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate 
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss.
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3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under 
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

Offsetting of financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net 
amount is reported in the consolidated statement of financial 
position if there is a currently enforceable legal right to offset 
the recognised amounts and there is an intention to settle 
on a net basis, or to realise the asset and settle the liabilities 
simultaneously.

Borrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to 
the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, 
which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of 
time to get ready for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of 
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying 
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation.

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the 
period in which they are incurred.
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(i) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Current and deferred tax
The income tax expense or credit for the years is the tax 
payable on the current year’s taxable income based on the 
applicable income tax rate for each jurisdiction adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to 
temporary differences and to unused tax losses. Current and 
deferred income tax is recognised in profit or loss, except to the 
extent that it relates to items recognised in other comprehensive 
income or directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also 
recognised in other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

(i) Current income tax
The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of 
the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of 
the reporting period in the PRC where the Group operates 
and generates taxable income. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to 
situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to 
interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate 
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax 
authorities.
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(ii) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Current and deferred tax (continued)
(ii) Deferred tax

Deferred tax is provided in full, using the liability method, 
on temporary differences arising between the tax bases 
of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in 
the consolidated financial statements. However, the 
deferred tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial 
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other 
than a business combination that at the time of transaction 
affects neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. 
Deferred tax is determined using tax rates and laws that 
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of 
the reporting period and are expected to apply when the 
related deferred tax asset is realised or the deferred tax 
liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only if it is probable 
that future taxable amount will be available to utilise those 
temporary differences and losses.

Deferred tax liabilities and assets are not recognised for 
temporary differences between the carrying amount and 
tax bases of investments in foreign operations where the 
companies are able to control the timing of the reversal 
of the temporary differences and it is probable that the 
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred taxes assets 
and liabilities relate to the same taxation authority. Current 
income tax assets and tax liabilities are offset where the 
entity has a legally enforceable right to offset and intends 
either to settle on a net basis, or to realise the asset and 
settle the liability simultaneously.
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(a) 

(b) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Employee benefits
(a) Pension obligations

The Group only operates defined contribution pension 
plans. In accordance with the rules and regulations in the 
PRC, the PRC based employees of the Group participate 
in various defined contribution retirement benefit plans 
organised by the relevant municipal and provincial 
governments in the PRC under which the Group and 
the PRC based employees are required to make monthly 
contributions to these plans calculated as a percentage 
of the employees’ salaries. The municipal and provincial 
governments undertake to assume the retirement benefit 
obligations of all existing and future retired PRC based 
employees’ payable under the plans described above. 
Other than the monthly contributions, the Group has no 
further obligation for the payment of retirement and other 
post-retirement benefits of its employees. The assets of 
these plans are held separately from those of the Group 
in independently administrated funds managed by the 
governments.

The Group’s contributions to the defined contribution 
retirement scheme are expensed as incurred.

(b) Housing funds, medical insurances and other social 
insurances
Employees of the Group in the PRC are entitled to 
participate in various government-supervised housing 
funds, medical insurances and other social insurances. The 
Group contributes on a monthly basis to these funds based 
on certain percentages of the salaries of the employees, 
subject to certain ceiling. The Group’s liability in respect 
of these funds is limited to the contributions payable in 
each year. Contributions to the housing funds, medical 
insurances and other social insurances are expensed as 
incurred.
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(c) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Employee benefits (continued)
(c) Employee leave entitlements

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised 
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made 
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result 
of services rendered by employees up to the end of the 
reporting period.

Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave 
are not recognised until the time of leave.

Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the Group has a present 
legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is 
probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle 
the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. 
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood 
that an outflow will be required in settlement is determined by 
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is 
recognised even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to 
any one item included in the same class of obligations may be 
small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the obligation using a pre-tax 
rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of 
money and the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in 
the provisions due to passage of time is recognised as interest 
expense.
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(a) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Government grants
Grants from the government are recognised at their fair value 
where there is a reasonable assurance that the grant will 
be received and the Group will comply with all attached 
conditions. Government grants relating to costs are deferred and 
recognised in profit or loss over the period necessary to match 
them with the costs that they are intended to compensate. 
Government grants relating to the purchase of assets are 
included in non-current liabilities as deferred income and 
are credited to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the 
expected lives of the related assets.

Dividend distribution
Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is 
recognised as a liability in financial statements in the 
period when the dividends are approved by the Company’s 
shareholders or declared by the Company’s directors where 
appropriate.

Related parties
(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is 

related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Group;

(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the 
Group or the Company’s parent.
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(b) 

(i) 

(ii) 

(iii) 

(iv) 

(v) 

(vi) (a)

(vii) (a)(i)

(viii) 

3 BASIC OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL 
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION 
(continued)
Related parties (continued)
(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following 

conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the company are members of the same 
group (which means that each parent, subsidiary and 
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or a joint venture of the 
other entity (or an associate or a joint venture of a 
member of a group of which the other entity is a 
member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third 
party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the 
other entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the 
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity 
related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a 
person identified in (a) above.

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) above has significant 
influence over the entity or is a member of the key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of 
the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of the company of which 
it is a part, provides key management personnel 
services to the Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family 
members who may be expected to influence, or be 
influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity.
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4  

4.1 

4.2 

4 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND 
JUDGEMENTS
The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the 
future. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, 
seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and 
assumptions that have a significant risk of causing a material 
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year or period are addressed below.

4.1 Provision for ECL on trade receivables 

The Group makes allowances on trade receivables 
based on assumptions about risk of default and expected 
loss rates. The Group used judgement in making these 
assumptions and selecting the inputs to the impairment 
calculation, based on the Group’s debtors’ credit history, 
existing market conditions as well as forward looking 
estimates at the end of each reporting period.

Where the expectation is different from the original 
estimates, such differences will impact the carrying 
amounts of trade receivables and the related loss 
allowances in the period in which such estimates are 
changed.

4.2 Current taxation and deferred taxation
The Group is subject to corporate income taxes in the 
PRC. Judgment is required in determining the amount of 
the provision for taxation and the timing of payment of 
the related taxations. There are many transactions and 
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is 
uncertain during the ordinary course of business. Where 
the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such differences will 
impact the current income tax and deferred income tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is 
made.
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5 

8

10%

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
Management has determined the operating segments based 
on the reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker 
(“CODM”). The CODM, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segment, 
has been identified as the executive directors of the Company.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, the 
Group is principally engaged in the provision of cleaning 
and maintenance services in the PRC. CODM reviews the 
operating results of the business as one operating segment to 
make decisions about resources to be allocated. Therefore, the 
CODM regards that there is only one identified segment, under 
the requirement of HKFRS 8 Operating Segments , which is 
used to make strategic decisions. No geographical segment is 
disclosed.

Revenue recognised during the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Revenue from contracts with customers 
recognised over time

Cleaning and maintenance services income 673,558 630,172    

The Group offers comprehensive cleaning and maintenance 
services for commercial and residential buildings, shopping 
malls, and public spaces.

The major operating entities of the Group are domiciled in the 
PRC. Accordingly, all of the Group’s revenue were derived in 
the PRC during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. 
None of the individual customer of the Group contributed 
10% or more of the Group’s revenue for the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.
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• 
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• 

5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)
The non-current assets information is based on the locations of 
the assets and excludes financial assets and deferred tax assets.

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Non-current assets
The PRC 40,710 28,876
Hong Kong 14,303 –    

55,013 28,876    

Revenue is recognised when control over a service is transferred 
to the customer, at the amount of promised consideration to 
which the Group is expected to be entitled, excluding those 
amounts collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes 
value added tax or other sales taxes and is after deduction of 
any trade discounts.

The revenue of the Group is arisen from the provision of 
cleaning and maintenance services. Depending on the terms of 
the contract, control of the service may be transferred over time 
or at a point in time. Control of the service is transferred over 
time if the Group’s performance:

• provides all of the benefits received and consumed 
simultaneously by the customer;

• creates or enhances an asset that the customer controls as 
the Group performs; or

• does not create an asset with an alternative use to the 
Group and the Group has an enforceable right to payment 
for performance completed to date.
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5  5 REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION 
(continued)
If control of the services transfers over time, revenue is 
recognised over the period of the contract by reference to the 
progress towards complete satisfaction of that performance 
obligation. Otherwise, revenue is recognised at a point in time 
when the customer obtains control of the service.

When either party to a contract has performed, the Group 
presents the contract in the consolidated statement of financial 
position as a contract asset or a contract liability, depending 
on the relationship between the Group’s performance and the 
customer’s payment.

Unsatisfied performance obligations
For the provision of cleaning and maintenance services, the 
Group recognises revenue in the amount that equals to the 
right to invoice which corresponds directly with the value to 
the customer of the Group’s performance to date, on a regular 
basis. The Group has elected the practical expedient for not 
to disclose the remaining performance obligations for these 
contracts.
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6 6 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Employee benefit expenses (Note 8) 8 379,910 351,267
Subcontracting labor costs 198,685 187,641
Cost of cleaning materials consumed 19,003 17,349
Insurance expenses 3,127 1,795
Auditor’s remuneration 880 1,100
Depreciation 7,210 3,823
Donation 1,074 –

Taxes and surcharges 3,211 2,812
Uniform expenses 1,205 1,255
Marketing and entertainment expenses 3,550 4,359
Motor vehicle expenses 1,547 1,674
Maintenance and utilities expenses 2,884 1,811
Office and communication expenses 2,813 2,542
Travelling expenses 2,837 2,045
Tendering expenses 469 789
Expenses relating to short-term leases 3,881 3,381
Professional services fees 5,866 250
Listing expenses – 12,033
Other expenses 6,796 7,048    

Total cost of services, selling and marketing 
 expenses and administrative and other
 expenses

 
644,948 602,974
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7 

  

7 OTHER INCOME, GAINS AND LOSSES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Rental income (Note) 2,451 3,201
Value-added tax refund – 1,402
Government grant 60 136
Exchange loss, net (1,851) –

Others 1,773 1,650    

2,433 6,389    

Notes:  Rental income arising from the investment properties and the 
leased shops is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
terms of the lease agreements. The rental income arising from 
the leased car park is recognised over the lease period.
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8 8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Salaries, wages and bonuses 362,818 333,722
Social insurance and housing provident fund 
 contribution 15,093 16,025
Other employee benefits 1,999 1,520    

379,910 351,267    

All employees of the Group participate in employee social 
insurance plans established in the PRC, which cover pension, 
medical and other welfare benefits. The plans are organised 
and administered by the governmental authorities. Except 
for the contributions made to these social insurance plans, 
the Group has no other material commitments owing to the 
employees. According to the relevant regulations, the portion 
of premium and welfare benefit contributions that should be 
borne by the companies within the Group as required by the 
above social insurance plans are principally determined based 
on percentages of the basic salaries of employees, subject to 
certain ceilings imposed. These contributions are expensed as 
incurred.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, no 
forfeited contributions were utilised by the Group to reduces its 
contributions to the above-mentioned social insurance plans.
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8 
(a) 

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments

For the year ended 31 December 2024

Fee
Salary and 

bonuses

Social 
insurance 

and housing 
provident fund 

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
      

Executive directors:
Mr. Li – 639 40 679
Mr. Chen – 477 19 496      

Independent non-executive 
 directors:
Chong Sze Pui Joanne, MH (Note (a)) MH (a) 46 – – 46
Cheung Bo Man^ (Note (b)) ^ (b) 111 – – 111
Yau Yin Hung^ (Note (b)) ^ (b) 111 – – 111
Wang Hui (Note (c)) (c) 46 – – 46      

314 1,116 59 1,489      
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(a) 

(a) MH

(b) 

(c) 

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)
(a) Directors’ emoluments (continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

Fee
Salary and 

bonuses

Social 
insurance 

and housing 
provident fund 

contribution Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Executive directors:
Mr. Li – 283 69 352
Mr. Chen – 128 34 162      

Independent non-executive 
 directors:
Chong Sze Pui Joanne, MH^ (Note (a)) MH^ (a) – – – –
Cheung Bo Man^ (Note (b)) ^ (b) – – – –
Yau Yin Hung^ (Note (b)) ^ (b) – – – –      

– 411 103 514      

Notes:

(a) Ms Chong Sze Pui Joanne, MH was appointed as an 
independent non-executive director of the Company on 
14 November 2023 and resigned as an independent non-
executive director of the Company on 1 June 2024.

(b) Ms. Cheung Bo Man and Ms. Yau Yin Hung were appointed 
as independent non-executive directors of the Company on 
14 November 2023.

(c) Dr. Wang Hui was appointed as an Independent non-
executive director of the Company on 26 July 2024.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
the remuneration shown above represents remuneration 
received by Mr. Li and Mr. Chen in their capacity as 
employee to the subsidiaries of the Group.

Dur ing the year ended 31 December 2023, the 
independent non-executive directors of the Company 
were appointed on 14 November 2023 but neither of them 
received any directors’ remuneration with the capacity as 
directors.
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(b) 

8 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (continued)
(b) Five highest paid individuals’ emoluments

Two of the directors (2023: none) are included in the five 
individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the 
Group during the year ended 31 December 2024. The 
emoluments payables to the three (2023: five) highest paid 
individuals for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023 are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Employees
 –  Basic salaries and other allowances – 1,268 1,936
 –  Discretionary bonuses – 48 300
 –  Contribution to pension scheme – 159 359    

1,475 2,595    

The emoluments fell within the following bands:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Nil-HK$500,000 500,000 2 5
HK$500,001-HK$1,000,000 500,001 1,00,000 1 –
    



SHENGHUI CLEANNESS GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024148

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

9 

10 

9 FINANCE INCOME (EXPENSES), NET

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Finance income
Interest income 2,456 131
Finance expenses
Interest expense on bank borrowings (488) (185)
Interest expense on lease liabilities (517) (412)    

Finance income (expenses), net 1,451 (466)    

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Current tax 5,045 4,611
Deferred tax (Note 16) 16 4,960 (110)    

10,005 4,501    
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10 
(a) 

25%

15%

3

3

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
(a) Corporate income tax

Income tax provision of the Group in respect of operations 
in the PRC has been calculated at the applicable tax rate 
25% on the estimated assessable profits for the respective 
years, based on the existing legislation, interpretations and 
practices in respect thereof except for a subsidiary of the 
Group in the PRC which are granted with tax concession 
and hence are taxed at preferential tax rates.

Guangzhou Shenghui Cleanness Service Co., Ltd. 
(“Guangzhou Shenghui”) has been qualified as a High and 
New Technology Enterprise and enjoyed a preferential 
income tax rate of 15% since 2020, which is subject to 
review and renewal once every three years. The High 
and New Technology Enterprise Certificate was obtained 
and be remained valid for 3 years from December 2020 
to December 2023. Guangzhou Shenghui has obtained 
the renewal of the High and New Technology Enterprise 
Certificate on 28 December 2023 which is valid for 3 
years to 28 December 2026.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as 
the Group had no estimated assessable profit generated 
in Hong Kong during the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023.

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands as 
an exempted company with limited liability under the 
Companies Law of Cayman Islands and accordingly, is 
exempted from Cayman Islands income tax.
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10 
(a) 

100%

(b) 

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
(a) Corporate income tax (continued)

According to the policy promulgated by the State Bureau of 
the PRC, enterprises engaged in research and development 
activities are entitled to claim an additional tax deduction 
amounting to maximin 100% of the qualified research 
and development expenses incurred in determining its tax 
assessable profits for that year (the “Super Deduction”). 
Guangzhou Shenghui is qualified to enjoy the Super 
Deduction during the years ended 31 December 2024 and 
2023.

(b) The income tax expenses for the years ended 31 December 
2024 and 2023 can be reconciled to the profit before 
income tax as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Profit before income tax 59,231 32,390    

Tax calculated at applicable corporate 
income tax rate of 25%

25%
 14,808 8,098

Additional allowance under the Super 
Deduction (3,139) (5,321)

Preferential income tax rate applicable to  
a subsidiary  (4,215) (2,509)

Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax 
purposes 2,763 4,061

Tax losses not recognised 2,564 172
Tax effect of temporary differences not 

recognised (2,776) –    

10,005 4,501    
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10 
(b) 

1,520,000 1,437,000

11 

12 
(a) 

(b) 

10 INCOME TAX EXPENSES (continued)
(b) (continued)

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group did not 
recognise deferred tax assets in respect of tax losses 
of approximately RMB1,520,000 and RMB1,437,000, 
respectively, that can be carried forward against future 
taxable income. Tax losses of group companies operated 
in the PRC could only be carried forward for a maximum 
for five years from the year of incurrence.

11 DIVIDEND
No dividend has been paid or declared by the Company during 
the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

12 EARNINGS PER SHARE
(a) Basic earnings per share

Basic earnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit 
attributable to owners of the Company by the weighted 
average number of ordinary shares in issue during the 
respective years.

2024 2023

    

Profit attributable to owners of the Company 
(RMB’000)

 
49,226 27,889

Weighted average number of ordinary shares 
in issue (thousands)

 
1,631,818 1,278,897    

Basic earnings per share (RMB cents) 3.02 2.18    

(b) Diluted earnings per share
Diluted earnings per share were the same as the basic 
earnings per share as there were no potentially dilutive 
ordinary shares outstanding during the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023.



SHENGHUI CLEANNESS GROUP HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2024152

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

13 13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Building
Plant and 

machinery
Motor 

vehicles

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and office 
equipment

Leasehold 
improvements

Construction 
in progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

         

Cost
At 1 January 2023 7,496 18,396 7,336 1,716 – – 34,944
Additions – 3,187 1,249 44 – – 4,480
Disposal – – (111) – – – (111)         

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024  

 7,496 21,583 8,474 1,760 – – 39,313
Additions 688 17,374 1,971 2,739 446 2,748 25,966
Disposal – – (1) – – – (1)
Exchange realignment – – 12 – 10 – 22         

At 31 December 2024
 8,184 38,957 10,456 4,499 456 2,748 65,300         

Accumulated depreciation
At 1 January 2023 1,361 11,377 6,149 1,580 – – 20,467
Charge for the year 356 2,437 457 56 – – 3,306
Disposal – – (105) – – – (105)         

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024  

 1,717 13,814 6,501 1,636 – – 23,668
Charge for the year 364 3,401 856 773 35 – 5,429
Disposal – – (1) – – – (1)
Exchange realignment – – 2 – 2 – 4         

At 31 December 2024
 2,081 17,215 7,358 2,409 37 – 29,100         

Net book amount
At 31 December 2023

 5,779 7,769 1,973 124 – – 15,645         

At 31 December 2024
 6,103 21,742 3,098 2,090 419 2,748 36,200         
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13  

20
3 10

4 5
3
3

13 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 
(continued)
Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated 
using the straight-line method to allocate their cost to their 
residual values over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Building 20 years
Plant and machinery 3–10 years
Motor vehicles 4–5 years
Furniture, fixtures and office equipment 3 years
Leasehold improvements 3 years

The deprecation expense for property, plant and equipment is 
charged to the profit or loss as below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost of services 2,800 2,741
Administrative and other expenses 2,629 565    

5,429 3,306    
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14 

905,000 1,018,000

3,200,000
3,130,000

20

4,963,000

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Cost:
At beginning of the year 9,587 9,587
Transfer to right-of-use assets (8,106) –
    

At end of the year 1,481 9,587    

Accumulated depreciation:
At beginning of the year 3,606 3,089
Charge for the year 212 517
Transfer to right-of-use assets (3,242) –    

At end of the year 576 3,606    

Net book value
At end of the year 905 5,981    

Self-owned investment property
The Group’s self-owned investment property include land use 
rights and buildings which are situated in the PRC with carrying 
amount of RMB905,000 and RMB1,018,000 as at 31 December 
2024 and 2023 respectively. The fair value of the self-owned 
investment property is approximately RMB3,200,000 and 
RMB3,130,000 as at 31 December 2024 and 2023 respectively.

Subleased property
One of the investment properties was leased from an 
independent third party for 20 years and was subleased to 
the then related company of the Group for eight years under 
operating leases with rentals payable on a monthly basis. As 
at 31 December 2023, the carrying amount of the subleased 
property was RMB4,963,000.
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14 

4,864,000

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
During the year ended 31 December 2024, the sublease 
agreement was matured and the subleased property was 
subleased to a group entity for a term of eight years, effective 
from 1 April 2024. Following the change in use of the 
subleased property, the subleased property was transferred 
from investment properties to right-of-use assets. The carrying 
amount of the subleased property as at the date of transfer was 
RMB4,864,000.

Details of the subleased property and the related lease liabilities 
are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Carrying value N/A 4,963
Fair value N/A 540
Lease liabilities arose from the leasing 
 arrangement N/A 6,935    
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14 

13 20

14 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)
The fair value of the investment properties as at 31 December 
2024 and 2023 was determined by reference to a valuation 
as carried out by Roma Appraisals Limited. Roma Appraisals 
Limited is an independent firm of professional valuer not 
connected to the Group, who has appropriate qualifications 
and experience in the valuation of investment properties in the 
relevant locations.

The fair value of the investment properties was in Level 3 of the 
fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. There 
were no changes to the valuation technique during both years.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the fair value of the self-
owned investment property of the Group was derived by using 
direct comparison approach. Direct comparison approach 
is based on assuming sales of the properties in its existing 
state by making reference to comparable market transactions 
as available in the relevant market. Comparable properties 
with similar sizes, characters and locations are analysed and 
weighed against all respective advantages and disadvantages of 
each property in order to arrive at a fair comparison of value.

As at 31 December 2023, the fair value of the subleased 
investment property of the Group was derived by using income 
approach. It was referred to the difference between the lease 
rent determined by the market and the rent agreed upon by 
the lessor and the lessee in the lease period and arrived at the 
investment value for reference purpose. It was expected the 
investment property would generate net rental income or cash 
inflows and therefore had no impairment indicator.

Depreciation of investment properties is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their costs over their estimated 
useful lives of ranging from 13 years to 20 years.
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15 15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASES LIABILITIES
The Group as a lessee
The Group has lease contracts for office premise used in its 
operation.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and the 
movements during the year are as follows:

Office 
premise

RMB’000

   

As at 1 January 2023, 31 December 2023 and 
 1 January 2024

 
–

Additions 14,615
Transfer from investment property 4,864
Depreciation charge (1,569)
Exchange realignment (2)   

As at 31 December 2024 17,908   

A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is shown in the table 
below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

The present value of the maturity of 
 lease liabilities:
Within 1 year 5,755 701
Later than 1 year but not later than 2 years 5,919 667
Later than 2 years but not later than 5 years 5,050 1,876
Over 5 years 3,311 3,691    

20,035 6,935
Less: Amount shown under current liabilities (5,755) (701)    

Amount shown under non-current liabilities 14,280 6,234    
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15  

3.6% 6.3%
6.3%

16 

15 RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS/LEASES LIABILITIES 
(continued)
Amounts recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Interest expenses 517 412
Expenses relating to short-term leases 3,881 3,381    

Interest expenses on lease liabilities is determined and 
recognised on the basis of the Group’s incremental borrowing 
rate ranging from 3.6% to 6.3% (2023: 6.3%) per annum 
at initial recognition. The Directors considered the Group’s 
incremental borrowing rate to be appropriate in view of the 
market environment and economic conditions under which 
each leases operate. The carrying balances of the lease 
liabilities are amortised to nil on the expiry dates of the leases.

16 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a 
legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets against 
current tax liabilities and when the deferred tax relate to the 
same taxation authority. The net amounts are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Deferred tax assets 7,339 5,821
Deferred tax liabilities (7,224) (746)    

115 5,075    
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16 16 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)
The movements in deferred tax assets during the years ended 31 
December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Allowance 
for 

impairment 
of receivables

Accrued 
expenses Leases Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2023 2,651 2,314 806 5,771
Credited (charged) to profit or loss 110 – (60) 50      

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024  

 2,761 2,314 746 5,821
Credited (charged) to profit or loss 1,578 – (60) 1,518      

At 31 December 2024
 4,339 2,314 686 7,339      

The movements in deferred tax liabilities during the years ended 
31 December 2024 and 2023 were as follows:

Leases

Financial 
assets at

FVTPL Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

     

At 1 January 2023 806 – 806
Credited to profit or loss (60) – (60)     

At 31 December 2023 and  
1 January 2024

 
 

746 – 746
(Credited) charged to profit or loss (60) 6,538 6,478     

At 31 December 2024  
686 6,538 7,224     
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16 

237,128,000
187,902,000

17 

16 DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (continued)
Under the income tax laws in the PRC, withholding tax is 
imposed on dividend declared in respect of profit earned by the 
subsidiaries in the PRC. As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, 
the retained earnings of the Group’s subsidiaries in the PRC 
not yet remitted to holding companies incorporated outside 
the PRC, for which no deferred tax liability had been provided, 
were approximately RMB237,128,000 and RMB187,902,000, 
respectively. Such earnings are expected to be retained by 
the subsidiaries in the PRC for reinvestment purposes and 
would not be remitted to their overseas holding companies in 
the foreseeable future based on management’s estimation of 
overseas funding requirements.

17 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Financial assets
Financial assets at amortised cost:
 –  Trade and other receivables, excluding  

 prepayments

–  
307,509 252,767

 –  Restricted bank deposits – 1,423 1,817
 –  Cash and cash equivalents – 91,109 148,573    

400,041 403,157    

Financial assets at FVTPL  
101,160 –

    

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities at amortised cost:
 –  Trade and other payables, excluding payroll,  

 bonus and social insurance payable and  
 other tax payable

– 

45,658 52,994
– Bank borrowings – 39,714 –

Lease liabilities 20,035 6,935    

105,407 59,929    
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18  18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 
PREPAYMENTS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000
    

Trade receivables 292,599 241,856
Less: allowance for impairment (24,525) (14,004)    

268,074 227,852    

Deposits
Deposit for acquisition of subsidiaries 21,696 –
Rental deposits 1,608 –
Other deposits 11,554 15,013    

34,858 15,013

Less: allowance for impairment (4,214) (4,214)    

30,644 10,799

Less: deposits – non-current portion  – (26,996) (6,536)    

Deposits – current portion  – 3,648 4,263    

Notes receivables – 4,447    

Other receivables
 – Tendering deposits – 3,666 4,391
 – Other receivables – 5,304 5,457
Less: allowance for impairment (179) (179)    

8,791 9,669    

Prepayments on
– Utilities expenses – 1,421 1,502
– Insurance expenses – 2,077 1,743
– Prepayments to suppliers – 3,958 –
– Prepayment for acquisition of property, plant  

 and equipment
–  

 – 7,250    

7,456 10,495    

Less: Prepayments – non-current portion  – – (7,250)    

Prepayments – current portion  – 7,456 3,245    

Trade and other receivables and prepayments, net  
314,965 263,262    
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18 18 TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES AND 
PREPAYMENTS (continued)
The aging analysis of the gross trade receivables based on 
invoice date was as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

0–60 days 0 60 174,987 163,825
61–180 days 61 180 46,371 40,790
181–365 days 181 365 32,880 21,779
Over 1 year 1 38,361 15,462    

292,599 241,856    
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19 

(a) 

49,404,000 41,705,000

71,827,000
76,746,000

(b) 

(c) 

0.10% 0.15%
0.2% 0.35%

(d) 
1,423,000

1,817,000

19 RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND 
CASH EQUIVALENTS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Restricted bank deposits 1,423 1,817    

Cash and cash equivalents
 –  Cash at banks and on hand  –  91,109 148,573    

(a) The restricted bank deposits are mainly denominated in 
RMB throughout the years ended 31 December 2024 
and 2023. As at 31 December 2024, RMB49,404,000 
and RMB41,705,000 of cash and cash equivalents are 
denominated in RMB and HK$ respectively (2023: 
RMB71,827,000 and RMB76,746,000 at cash and 
cash equivalents are denominated in RMB and HK$ 
respectively).

(b) Conversion of RMB into foreign currencies is subject to the 
Foreign Exchange Control in the PRC throughout the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

(c) All bank balances carrying interest at variables rates with 
interests rates ranging from 0.10% to 0.15% (2023: from 
0.2% to 0.35%) per annum throughout the year ended 31 
December 2024.

(d) As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the restricted 
bank deposits of RMB1,423,000 and RMB1,817,000 
respectively are held for the guarantee of the performance 
of the Group’s provision of cleaning and maintenance 
services to customers.
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20  

  

37,258,000

19.5%

20 FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH 
PROFIT OR LOSS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Listed equity shares on National Equities 
Exchange and Quotations (Note)

 
101,160 –

    

Movement of the investment is as below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At beginning of the year – –

Addition for the year 63,902 –

Changes in fair value for the year 37,258 –    

At end of the year 101,160 –
    

Note:  The investment represents equity interest in an entity whose 
shares are listed on National Equities Exchange and Quotations 
(“NEEQ”), which is stated at fair value. The fair value of listed 
equity security is determined based on quoted market bid price 
available from NEEQ. During the year ended 31 December 
2024, a fair value gain of RMB37,258,000 (2023: nil) has been 
recognised in profit or loss. The Group held 19.5% of the total 
issued shares in the entity as at 31 December 2024.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 165

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

21 21 SHARE CAPITAL

Number of 
ordinary shares

Nominal value 
of shares

Equivalent 
nominal value 

of shares

HK$ RMB

     

Authorised
At 1 January 2023 38,000,000 380,000 317,900
Increase in authorised share capital 
 (Note i)

i
9,962,000,000 99,620,000 90,275,600     

At 31 December 2023, 1 January 2024 
and 31 December 2024

 
 

 
 

10,000,000,000 100,000,000 90,593,500     

Issued and fully paid
At 1 January 2023 1,000 10 8
Issuance of shares (Note ii) ii 1,624,999,000 16,249,990 14,725,733     

At 31 December 2023 and 1 January 
2024

 
 

1,625,000,000 16,250,000 14,725,741     

Issuance of shares (Note iii) iii 130,980,000 1,309,800 1,226,864     

At 31 December 2024  
1,755,980,000 17,559,800 15,952,605     
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21 

(i) 

380,000 38,000,000
0.01

100,000,000 10,000,000,000

(ii) 

1,251,249,000
0.32

40,625,000

0.32
373,750,000
119,600,000

108,382,000

(iii) 
130,980,000

0.305

37,419,000 39,950,000
36,858,000 39,350,000

21 SHARE CAPITAL (continued)

Notes:

(i) The Company was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 4 
January 2021. At the date of incorporation, the authorised share 
capital is HK$380,000 comprising 38,000,000 ordinary shares 
of HK$0.01 each. Upon the completion of public offering and 
the placing on 5 December 2023, the authorised share capital 
was increased to HK$100,000,000 comprising 10,000,000,000 
ordinary shares.

(ii) Based upon a shareholders’ resolution dated 14 November 
2023 and successful offering of the Company’s shares, the 
Company issued additional 1,251,249,000 new shares (including 
40,625,000 to be offered by Controlling Shareholders for sale 
at HK$0.32 under the placing), credited as fully paid, to the 
then shareholder of the Company on 14 November 2023 (the 
“Capitalisation Issue”). On 5 December 2023, the Company was 
listed on the Stock Exchange with a public offering in Hong Kong 
of 373,750,000 shares at a price of HK$0.32 per share (the “Share 
Offer”), with a total amount of HK$119,600,000 (equivalents at 
approximately RMB108,382,000).

(iii) On 13 December 2024, an aggregate of 130,980,000 shares have 
been placed to not less than six places at the placing price of 
HK$0.305 per placing shares in accordance with the terms of the 
placing agreement (the “Placing”). The gross and net proceeds (after 
deducting the placing commission and other related expenses from 
the Placing) amounted to approximately RMB37,419,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$39,950,000) and RMB36,858,000 (equivalent 
to approximately HK$39,350,000), respectively.
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22 

(a) 

(b) 

10%
50%

50%

22 RESERVES

Share
premium

Capital
reserves
(Note a)

Retained
earnings

Statutory
reserves
(Note b) Total

a b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

At 1 January 2023 4,000 (1,213) 160,013 14,232 177,032
Issuance of shares (Note 21) 21 93,656 – – – 93,656
Share issuance costs (14,485) – – – (14,485)
Profit for the year – – 27,889 – 27,889       

At 31 December 2023
 83,171 (1,213) 187,902 14,232 284,092       

Share
premium

Capital
reserves
(Note a)

Retained
earnings

Statutory
reserves
(Note b) Total

a b
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

       

At 1 January 2024 83,171 (1,213) 187,902 14,232 284,092
Issuance of shares (Note 21) 21 36,192 – – – 36,192
Share issuance costs (561) – – – (561)
Profit for the year – – 49,226 – 49,226       

At 31 December 2024
 118,802 (1,213) 237,128 14,232 368,949       

Notes:

(a) The capital reserve represents the deemed contribution/
distribution from/to Controlling Shareholders.

(b) In accordance with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC 
and the Articles of Association of the subsidiaries of the Group, 
when distributing the net profit of each year, the subsidiaries 
of the Group shall reserve appropriate 10% of its profit after 
taxation (based on the local statutory financial statements) for the 
statutory surplus reserve fund (except where the reserve balance 
has reached 50% of the Company’s registered capital). As at 31 
December 2024 and 2023, the statutory reserve balances of the 
PRC subsidiaries have already reached 50% of the registered 
capital of the respective PRC subsidiaries.
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23 23 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Trade payables 19,991 31,193    

Other payables
– Utility – 1,005 1,012
– Listing expenses – – 3,252
– Amount due to Mr. Chen (Note 27(b)) –  

 27(b)) 1,125 1,125
– Amount due to Mr. Li (Note 27(b)) –  

 27(b)) 21,025 16,411
– Payroll, bonus and social insurance payables –  

 49,181 52,430
– Other tax payable – 8,030 8,276
– Other payables – 2,512 –    

82,878 82,506    

Trade and other payables 102,869 113,699    

The ageing analysis of trade payables based on the invoice date 
was as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

0–60 days 0 60 8,096 21,148
61–180 days 61 180 2,632 3,313
181–365 days 181 365 1,575 1,867
Over 1 year 1 7,688 4,865    

19,991 31,193    

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the amounts due to Mr. 
Li and Mr. Chen are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on 
demand.

The carrying amounts of trade and other payables are 
denominated in RMB and are approximate their fair values.
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24 

 
3.25%

3.90%

25  

24 BANK BORROWINGS

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Bank borrowings 39,714 –
    

Note: As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s bank borrowings are 
unsecured, with interest rate ranging from 3.25% to 3.90% per 
annum and repayable within one year.

25 RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES FROM 
FINANCING ACTIVITIES

Balances 
with 

Controlling 
Shareholders

Bank 
borrowings

Lease 
liabilities Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

As at 1 January 2023 15,170 – 7,200 22,370
Cash inflows 13,881 9,472 – 23,353
Cash outflows (11,515) (9,472) (677) (21,664)
Interest expenses – – 412 412      

As at 31 December 2023 and 
 1 January 2024  

 17,536 – 6,935 24,471
Cash inflows 4,614 97,104 – 101,718
Cash outflows – (57,390) (2,032) (59,422)
Interest expenses – – 517 517
New leases – – 14,615 14,615      

At 31 December 2024
 22,150 39,714 20,035 81,899      
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26 

9.1

27 

 

(a) 

26 COMMITMENTS
As at 31 December 2023, the Group had capital commitments 
to be incurred amounted to approximately RMB9.1 million (31 
December 2024: nil).

The Group had future aggregate minimum lease receipts under 
non-cancellable operating leases in respect of investment 
properties as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Within one year – 538    

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
Apart from the related parties transactions disclosed elsewhere 
in the consolidated financial statements, the following 
transactions were carried out with related parties/companies:

(a) Transactions with related parties/companies
Related party transactions:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Controlling Shareholders
 –  Funds repayment to Controlling  

 Shareholders during the year
 –   

 – (11,515)
 –  Funds advance from Controlling  

 Shareholders during the year
 –   

 4,614 13,881
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27 
(b) 

(c) 

27 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (continued)
(b) Balances due to Controlling Shareholders

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Controlling Shareholders
Non-trade in nature and included in:
 –  Amount due to Mr. Li  –  21,025 16,411
 –  Amount due to Mr. Chen  –  1,125 1,125

(c) Key management compensation
Key management inc ludes d i rec tors  and sen ior 
managements of the Group. The compensation paid or 
payable to key management is shown below:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

Salaries, wages and bonuses 2,402 1,438
Social insurance and housing provident 
 fund contribution 210 274    

2,612 1,712    
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28  

Mr. Chen Liming

Director

28 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION OF THE COMPANY
AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2024

2024 2023

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Assets
Non-current assets
 Interests in subsidiaries  149,441 108,881
 Prepayment  21,696 –     

171,137 108,881     

Current assets
 Deposits and prepayments  1,608 290
 Amounts due from subsidiaries  (a) 9,248 8,156
 Cash and cash equivalents  41,732 76,747
 Others receivables  369 –     

52,957 85,193     

Total assets 224,094 194,074     

Equity
 Share capital  21 15,953 14,726
 Reserves  (c) 191,876 161,181     

Total equity 207,829 175,907     

Current liabilities
 Other payables  (b) 15,567 18,167
 Amounts due to directors  698 –     

Total liabilities 16,265 18,167     

Total equity and liabilities 224,094 194,074
     

These financial statements were approved and authorised for 
issue by the Board of directors on 28 March 2025 and are 
signed by:

Mr. Li Chenghua

Director
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28  

(a) 

(b) 

15,522,000
14,915,000

(c) 

 

2,460,000

28 NOTES TO THE STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 
POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)
(a) Amounts due from subsidiaries

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, repayable on 
demand.

(b) Other payables
As at 31 December 2024, the amount mainly represented 
amounts due to the Control l ing Shareholders of 
RMB15,522,000 (2023: RMB14,915,000), which are 
unsecured, interest-free, repayable on demand.

(c) Movement of reserves of the Company

Share
premium

Other
reserves

(Note)
Accumulated

losses Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

At 1 January 2023 4,000 106,421 (15,880) 94,541
Issuance of shares (Note 21)  ( 21) 93,656 – – 93,656
Share issuance costs (14,485) – – (14,485)
Loss for the year – – (12,531) (12,531)      

At 31 December 2023
 83,171 106,421 (28,411) 161,181

Issuance of shares (Note 21)  ( 21) 36,192 – – 36,192
Share issuance costs (561) – – (561)
Loss for the year – – (4,936) (4,936)      

At 31 December 2024
 118,802 106,421 (33,347) 191,876      

Note:  Other reserves of the Company represent the difference 
between the net asset value of the acquired subsidiaries 
acquired by the Company over the nominal value of the 
share capital of the Company issued in exchange thereof 
and net off the deemed distribution to the Controlling 
Shareholders of RMB2,460,000.
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29 29 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
The Company had direct or indirect interests in the following 
principal subsidiaries as at 31 December 2024 and 2023:

Attribution equity interest of 
the Group

Company name

Date of 
incorporation/
establishment

Country/
place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Registered/
issued capital As at 31 December

Principal activities/
Place of operations

2024 2023

       

Directly held by the Company:

Shenghui Cleanness (BVI) Limited 
 ( ( )
 )

18 January 2021 BVI US$1 100% 100% Investment holding in BVI

1 100% 100%
 

Indirectly held by the Company

Shenghui Cleanness (HK) Limited 
 ( ( ) )

27 January 2021 Hong Kong HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding in 
 Hong Kong

 
1 100% 100%

Guangzhou Shenghui Cleanness 
 Service Co., Ltd.) 
 ( )

4 August 2000 PRC RMB25,000,000 100% 100% Provision of cleaning and 
 maintenance services 
 in the PRC

25,000,000
100% 100%

 

Guangxi Shenghui Cleanness 
 Service Co., Ltd.) 
 ( )

7 June 2016 PRC RMB2,000,000 100% 100% Provision of cleaning and 
 maintenance services 
 in the PRC

2,000,000
100% 100%

 

Guangzhou Xinhui Technology & 
 Property Co., Ltd. 
 ( )

14 November 2022 PRC RMB8,000,000 100% 100% Provision of cleaning and 
 maintenance services 
 in the PRC

 8,000,000
100% 100%
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Attribution equity interest of 
the Group

Company name

Date of 
incorporation/
establishment

Country/
place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Registered/
issued capital As at 31 December

Principal activities/
Place of operations

2024 2023

       

Shenghui Cleanness (Beijing) Limited 
 ( )

20 July 2023 PRC RMB5,000,000 100% 100% Provision of cleaning and 
 maintenance services 
 in the PRC

5,000,000
100% 100%

 

Guangzhou Tianyou 
 Shenghui Environmental 
 Technology Co., LTD 
 ( )

29 November 2023 PRC RMB8,000,000 100% 100% Provision of Resale of 
 waste recycling in the 
 PRC

 8,000,000
100% 100%

 

Top Integrated Industries Limited # 3 June 2024 BVI US$100 100% – Investment holding in BVI
100

 

Tianyou Shenghui Green 
 Technology (HK) Co., Limited #

5 June 2024 Hong Kong HK$100 100% – Investment holding in 
 Hong Kong

( ) 100

# Incorporated during the year ended 31 December 2024

29 29 PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

# 
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30 

(a) 

(b) 

(c) 

(i)

(ii)

(i)
(ii)

(iii)

30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME
The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Share 
Option Scheme”) on 14 November 2023. The purpose of the 
Share Option Scheme is to attract and retain the best available 
personnel, to provide additional incentive to employees, 
directors, advisers, consultants, distributors, contractors, 
suppliers, agents and service providers of the Group and to 
promote the success of the business of the Group.

The Board may, at its absolute discretion, invite any person 
belonging to any of the following classes of participants to take 
up options to subscribe for Shares:

(a) any director and employee of the Company or any of its 
subsidiaries (including persons who are granted options as 
an inducement to enter into employment contracts with 
the Company or any of its subsidiaries)(the “Employee 
Participants”);

(b) any director and employee of the holding companies, 
fellow subsidiaries or associated companies of the 
Company;

(c) any person who provides services to the Group on a 
continuing and recurring basis in its ordinary and usual 
course of business which are in the interests of the long-
term growth of the Group, including but not limited to 
person(s) who work for the Company as independent 
contractors (including advisers, consultants, distributors, 
contractors, suppliers, agents and service providers of any 
member of the Group) where the continuity and frequency 
of their services are akin to those of employees, but 
excluding (i) placing agents or financial advisers providing 
advisory services for fundraising, mergers or acquisitions; 
and (ii) professional service providers such as auditors or 
valuers who provide assurance, or are required to perform 
their services with impartiality and objectivity (the “Service 
Providers”).

The exercise price shall be a price solely determined by the 
Board and notified to a Participant and shall be at least the 
higher of: (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the offer date; (ii) 
the average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business 
days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the nominal 
value of the Shares on the offer date.
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30 

10%
162,500,000

1%
12

1%

10

1

12

10

30 SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)
The total number of Shares which may be issued in respect of 
all options and awards to be granted under the Share Option 
Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) and share 
award scheme(s) of the Company shall not exceed 10% of the 
total number of Shares in issue as at the Listing Date, being 
up to 162,500,000 Shares as at 31 December 2024. The total 
number of Shares which may be issued in respect of all options 
granted to Service Providers shall not exceed 1% of the total 
number of Shares in issue. The total number of Shares issued 
and to be issued in respect of all options and awards granted 
to each participant (excluding any options or awards lapsed in 
accordance with the terms of the relevant schemes) under the 
Share Option Scheme and any other share option scheme(s) and 
share award scheme(s) of the Company in any 12-month period 
up to and including the date of grant shall not exceed 1% of the 
Shares in issue.

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the Board 
may determine which shall not exceed 10 years from the date of 
grant subject to the provisions of early termination thereof. The 
amount payable by the grantee of an option to the Company on 
acceptance of the offer is HK$1.

The vesting period for the options shall not be less than 12 
months from the offer date, provided that where the participant 
is an Employee Participants, the Board will have the authority 
to determine a shorter vesting period under some specific 
circumstances.

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period 
of 10 years commencing on 14 November 2023 and shall 
expire at the close of business on the business day immediately 
preceding the tenth anniversary thereof.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there was no option 
outstanding, granted, cancelled, exercised or lapsed.
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31 
31.1 

(i) 

30
30

52,000
176,000

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
31.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial 
risks: Foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, 
liquidity risk and other price risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management programme focuses on the unpredictability of 
financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse 
effect on the Group’s financial performance.

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is mainly exposed to foreign exchange 
risk arising from Hong Kong dollar (“HK$”) against 
RMB. This foreign exchange risk arises from future 
commercial transactions or recognised assets and 
liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the 
functional currencies of the Company and each of the 
subsidiaries. The Group manages its foreign exchange 
risk by performing regular reviews of the Group’s net 
foreign exchange exposures.

As at 31 December 2024, if HK$ had strengthened/
weakened by 30 basis points (2023: 30 basis points) 
against the RMB with all other variables held 
constant, profit before income tax for the year would 
have been approximately RMB52,000 higher/lower 
(2023: RMB176,000 higher/lower) mainly as a result 
of foreign exchange differences on translation of 
HK$-denominated balances.
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31 
31.1 

(ii) 

30

100

119,000
451,000

(iii) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(ii) Interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from fair 
value interest rate risk in relation to lease liabilities 
and cash flow interest rate risk in relation to variable-
rate restricted bank deposit, bank balances and 
variable-rate bank borrowings. Management monitors 
interest rate exposure and will consider hedging 
significant interest rate exposure should the need 
arises.

If interest rate risk has been 30 basis points increased 
or decreased in variable-rate restricted bank deposits 
and bank balances and a 100 basis points (2023: n/a) 
increase or decrease in variable-rate bank borrowings, 
with all other variables held constant, profit before 
tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023 
would have been RMB119,000 lower/higher and 
RMB451,000 higher/lower, respectively.

(iii) Credit risk
The Group is exposed to credit risk in relation to its 
trade and other receivables, restricted bank deposits 
and cash and cash equivalents. The carrying amounts 
of trade and other receivables, restricted bank 
deposits and cash and cash equivalents represent the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in relation 
to financial assets.

The Group expects that there is no significant credit 
risk associated with restricted bank deposits and cash 
and cash equivalents since they are substantially 
deposited at state-owned banks and other medium or 
large-sized listed banks, the credit rating of which is 
high. Management does not expect that there will be 
any significant losses from non-performance by these 
counterparties.
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 

9

12

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
For trade receivables from customers, the Group 
has large number of customers and there was no 
significant concentration of credit risk for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023. The Group 
has monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up 
action is taken to recover overdue debts. The Group 
applies the simplified approach to provide for ECL 
prescribed by HKFRS 9, which permits the use of the 
lifetime expected loss provision for trade receivables.

Other receivables mainly included deposits, notes 
receivables, tendering deposits and deposit for 
acquisition of subsidiaries. The Group has assessed 
those receivables using 12m ECL depending on 
whether there has been a significant increase in credit 
risk since initial recognition. If a significant increase 
in credit risk of a receivable has occurred since initial 
recognition, the impairment is measured as lifetime 
ECL.
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 

• 

• 

• 

• 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
The Group considers the probability of default 
upon initial recognition of assets and whether there 
has been a significant increase in credit risk on an 
ongoing basis throughout each reporting period. 
To assess whether there is a significant increase in 
credit risk the Group compares the risk of a default 
occurring on the asset as at the reporting date with 
the risk of default as at the date of initial recognition. 
It considers available forwarding-looking information. 
Especially the following indicators are incorporated:

• internal credit rating

• external credit rating

• actual or expected significant adverse changes in 
business, financial or economic conditions that 
are expected to cause a significant change to the 
individual customers and customers’ ability to 
meet its obligations

• actual or expected significant changes in the 
operating results of individual customers
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
A summary of the assumptions underpinning the 
Group’s ECL model on financial assets other than 
trade receivables is as follows:

Category Group definition of category
Basis for recognition of expected 
credit loss provision

   

Performing Customers have a low risk of default and a 
 strong capacity to meet contractual cash 
 flows

12m ECL. Where the expected lifetime 
of an asset is less than 12 months, 
expected losses are measured at its 
expected lifetime (stage 1)

 
12

12

Underperforming Receivables for which there is a significant 
 increase in credit risk, as significant increase 
 in credit risk is presumed if interest and/or 
 principal repayments are past due over 180 
 days

Lifetime expected losses (stage 2)

 180
 

Non-performing Interest and/or principal repayments are over 
 365 days past due

Lifetime expected losses (stage 3)

365
Write-off Interest and/or principal repayments are past 

 due and there is no reasonable expectation 
 of recovery

Asset is written off
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of 
the Group’s financial assets at amortised cost other 
than trade receivables, which are subject to ECL 
assessments.

Gross carrying amount

Internal credit 
rating

12m ECL or 
lifetime ECL As at 31 December
12

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

Restricted bank deposits Performing 12m ECL 1,423 1,817
12
 

Bank balances Performing 12m ECL 90,336 147,882
12
 

Other receivables Performing 12m ECL 43,828 29,308
12
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 
(i) 

(ii) 

(a) 

9

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(i) For restricted bank deposits and cash and cash 

equivalents, the Group determines the ECL by 
referring to external credit rating of the related 
banks.

(ii) For other receivables, for the purposes of internal 
credit risk management, the Group uses past 
due information to assess whether credit risk has 
increased significantly since initial recognition.

The Group accounts for its credit risk by appropriately 
providing for ECL on a timely basis. In calculating the 
ECL rates, the Group considers historical loss rates for 
each category of receivables and adjusts for forward 
looking macroeconomic data.

(a) Trade receivables
The Group has applied the simplified approach 
in HKFRS 9 to measure the ECL which uses a 
lifetime expected loss allowance for all trade 
receivables. In calculating the ECL rates of trade 
receivables, the Group considers historical loss 
rates based on customer’s historical default rates, 
past collection information and aging profiles of 
trade receivables by using a provision matrix and 
adjusts for forward looking macroeconomic data 
with the consideration on the current economy 
and industry outlook, except for those trade 
receivables identified as significant increase in 
credit risk that are assessed individually.
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 
(a) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)

The loss allowance provision for the trade 
rece ivab le  u s ing  p rov i s ion ma t r i x  was 
determined as follows:

As at 31 December 2023

Current
Less than 

60 days
61–180 

days
181 to 365 

days
1 to 

2 years
Over 

2 years Total
60 61 180 181 365 1 2 2         

Expected loss rate 1.3% 2.5% 4.5% 14.5% 23.5% 40.4%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 155,673 39,546 26,081 7,124 4,337 2,231 234,992
Loss allowance provision (RMB’000)

 2,024 989 1,174 1,033 1,019 901 7,140         

As at 31 December 2024

Current
Less than 

60 days
61–180 

days
181 to 365 

days
1 to 

2 years
Over 

2 years Total
60 61 180 181 365 1 2 2         

Expected loss rate 1.8% 3.5% 4.3% 6.3% 13.0% 33.7%
Gross carrying amount (RMB’000) 177,747 29,128 25,286 23,737 19,009 3,788 278,695
Loss allowance provision (RMB’000)

 3,263 1,027 1,089 1,490 2,477 1,275 10,621         
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)

The loss allowance of individually assessed trade 
receivables is determined as follows:

Individual
Trade 

receivables ECL rate
Loss 

allowance Reason

RMB’000 RMB’000

     

As at 31 December 2023

Trade receivables 6,864 100% 6,864 The likelihood of 
 recovery

     

As at 31 December 2024

Trade receivables 13,904 100% 13,904 The likelihood of 
 recovery

     

31 
31.1 

(iii) 
(a) 
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31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(a) Trade receivables (continued)

The movements of loss allowances for trade 
receivables are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At beginning of the year 14,004 13,273
Provision for loss allowance 
 recognised 10,521 731    

At end of the year 24,525 14,004    

(b) Other receivables
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, there 
were neither significant increase of credit risk 
nor credit impaired for the balance of other 
receivables. Management considered these 
receivables to be low credit risk since the 
counterparties have strong financial capacity 
to meet their contractual cash flow obligations 
in the near term. The ECL on those other 
receivables are not significant.

No impairment loss was recognised for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

31 
31.1 

(iii) 
(a) 

(b) 
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31 
31.1 

(iii) 
(b) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iii) Credit risk (continued)
(b) Other receivables (continued)

The movements of loss allowances for deposits 
are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At beginning of the year 4,214 4,214
Provision for loss allowance 
 recognised – –    

At end of the year 4,214 4,214    

The movements of loss allowances for tendering 
deposits are as follows:

2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

    

At beginning of the year 179 179
Provision for loss allowance – –    

At end of the year 179 179    

For deposi ts and tendering deposi ts,  no 
impairment loss was recognised for the years 
ended 31 December 2024 and 2023.

For notes receivables, no impairment loss was 
recognised for the year ended 31 December 
2023.



二零二四年年報  升輝清潔集團控股有限公司 189

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 
31.1 

(iv) 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(iv) Liquidity risk
To manage the liquidity risk, the Group monitors 
and maintains an adequate level of cash and cash 
equivalents determined by the management to 
finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows.

The tables below analyse the Group’s financial 
liabilities into relevant maturity groups based on the 
remaining period at the end of the reporting periods 
to the contractual maturity date.

On demand 
or less than 

1 year
Between 

1 and 2 years
Between 

2 and 5 years
Over 

5 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cashflow
Carrying 
amount

1 1 2 2 5 5
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

        

At 31 December 2023
Trade and other payables (excluding payroll, 
 bonus and social insurance payables and 
 other tax payables)

 
 52,993 – – – 52,993 52,993

Lease liabilities 701 709 2,254 6,036 9,700 6,935        

53,694 709 2,254 6,036 62,693 59,928        

At 31 December 2024
Trade and other payables (excluding payroll, 
 bonus and social insurance payables and 
 other tax payables)

 
 45,658 – – – 45,658 45,658

Bank borrowings 41,104 – – – 41,104 39,714
Lease liabilities 6,148 6,174 5,472 5,254 23,048 20,035        

92,910 6,174 5,472 5,254 109,810 105,407        
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 
31.1 

(v) 

5%

5,058,000

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.1 Financial risk factors (continued)

(v) Other price risk
The Group is exposed to equity price risk through its 
investments in equity securities measured at FVTPL. 
If the price of the respective equity instruments had 
been 5% (2023: n/a) higher/lower, the profit for the 
year ended 31 December 2024 would increase/
decrease by RMB5,058,000 (2023: n/a).

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets and 
financial liabilities that are measured at fair value on 
a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets and financial 
liabilities are measured at fair value at the end 
of each reporting period. The following table 
gives information about how the fair values of 
these financial assets and financial liabilities are 
determined:

Financial assets
Fair value as at 31 December Fair value 

hierarchy
Basis of fair value 
measurement

Significant 
unobservable 

inputs
2024 2023

RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Listed equity shares 
classified as financial 
assets at FVTPL

101,160 – Level 1 The fair value of the equity  
shares is estimated by  
the price quotation available  
in active market

N/A

101,160 –
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

31 
31.2 

31.3 

31 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)
31.2 Fair value estimation

The carrying amounts of the Group’s financial assets and 
liabilities approximate their fair values due to the short-
term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

31.3 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital is to 
safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholder and 
benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal 
capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages its 
capital structure to ensure optimal capital structure and 
enhance shareholder value in the long term. The capital 
structure consists of total equity and borrowings, if any, as 
shown in the consolidated statements of financial position. 
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the 
Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to 
shareholder, return capital to owner, or issue new shares.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing 
ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total 
equity. Net debt is calculated as total borrowings (including 
bank borrowings and amounts due to Controlling 
Shareholders under other payables as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial position) less cash 
and cash equivalents. Total equity represents the sum of 
share capital and reserves, as disclosed in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group has a net 
cash position and hence the gearing ratio has not been 
presented.
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A Summary of the results and assets, liabilities and equity of 
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the 
Prospectus and the published audited financial statements, is set out 
below. This summary does not form part of the audited financial 
statements.

RESULTS

2024 2023 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Revenue 673,558 630,172 594,204 563,541
Gross profit 100,700 93,445 94,409 89,245
Profit for the year attributable 
 to equity holders of the 
 Company

 
49,226 27,889 34,389 39,921

      

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2024 2023 2022 2021

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

      

Total assets 570,323 440,353 316,174 278,065
Total liabilities 185,421 141,535 139,142 135,422
Net assets 384,902 298,818 177,032 142,643      
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